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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022

The direclors present their Strategic report on the affairs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group
financial statemienis consolidate the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (the 'Company") and its
subsidiary undertakings ("Subsidiaries”) drawn up to 31 December 2022. Together these make up "Circle' or the ‘Group'.

The Company was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 30 December 2016 and is a holding company within the Group.

Principal activities

The Group is a provider of healthcare services in the UK, treating privately insured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients at its
54 hospitals and clinics across the UK. The Group also manages integrated care systems on behalf of commissioners. The
Group’s business strategy is founded on the belief that the best way to deliver great patient care is to empower the doctors,
nurses and all other staff who work in cur hospitals and clinics to put patients’ needs first.

Review of aperating and business performance and key performance indicators (KPIs)
The principal financial KPIs for the Group are hospital caseload (activity), revenue and profit before tax.

Hospital caseload (activity)
The Group carried out 294,000 procedures during 2022 and received 1.6 million outpatient visits, compared with 283,000

procedures and 1.6 million outpatient visits during 202 1.

Revenue
Revenue was £1,092 million for the year to 31 December 2022 (2021: £1,052 million).

Profit before tax
The loss before tax from continuing operations was £87.4 miltion (2021: £51.4 million).

Operating performance

The Group continues to focus relentlessly on providing the highest quality care for its patients. At the end of 2022 the group
had achieved Care Quality Control (CQC) ratings of 'Outstanding' at two of its hospitals and 'Good' ratings at a further 34
hospitals/clinics. Healthcare Improvement Scotland (HIS) and Healthcare Improvement Wales (IITW) have rated all
hospitals in those locations as ‘Good'.

The operating performance of the Group during 2022 was impacted by the ongoing presence of the Covid-19 pandemic,
with the Group continuing to support the wider UK health system in its response to the pandemic as well as returning to
previous conunissioning and operating arrangements with its major customers. The Omicron variant resulted in increased
Covid infections across the UK which was a source of shorter-term disruption in the early months of 2022, This subsided
through 2022 and has had limited impact to date in 2023. This is reflected in the year-on-year increasc in hospital caseload
and the build back towards the pre-pandemic treatment pathways and patient flows. The Group saw a substantial increase in
demand for treatment from patients paying for themselves, alongside inecreases in activity from private medical insurance
(PMI) providers. NHS commissioning activity remained below pre-pandemic levels in 2022,

Exceptional items of £39,2 million (2021: £11.6 million) recorded within operating profit relate to the following items:

+ costs of £0.6 million (2021: £4.1 million) in relation ta the ongoing Competition & Markets Authority review of the
Birmingham market following the acquisition of the BMI Healthcare group in January 2020,

» legal costs of £0.5m (2021: £nil} in relation to the May 2022 debt refinancing;

+ other exceptional costs £0.2m (2021: £0.1m); and

« the Group incurred £37 9 million (2021: £7.4 million) of impairment charges following the assessment of asset
impairment.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Operating performance (continued)
Finance costs of £137,788 (2021: £137,376) were incurred during the year. Finance costs consisted of the following:

+ £119.3 million (2021: £118.5 million) in relation to the interest expense incurred on IFRS 16 right of use properties;

* £1.4 million (2021: £0.9 million) in relation to the interest expense incurred on IFRS 16 right of use equipment assets held
on finance leases;

+ interest on senior facilities of £10.5 million (2021: £18.0 million); and

+ a one off interest charge of £6.6m (2021: £nil) relating to the write off of the loan issue costs an the previous facilities on

refinancing of these facilities during the year (note 19).

The tax credit for the year was £7.0 million (2021: charge of £1.3 million). The resulting net loss after tax for the period
was £80.4 million (2021: £52.7 million). This reflects the non-cash accounting charges relating to impairments as well as
the inmpact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges.

Financial position

The Group's balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 showed a total deficit of £25.7 million, compared with total equity of
£43.4 million as at 31 December 2021, The deficit pasition resuits from the cumulative impact of the non-cash accounting
charges on leases required under international accounting standards (IFRS16). In the early years of the leases, this creates a
non-cash accounting charge in excess of the cash rent paid by the Group. The Group's financial position remains sirong,
generating cash from operations to fund capital invesiment and with £100.0 million of committed undrawn facilitics

available to it at the date of approving these accounts.

Outlook

The Group's large hospital network, capacity and geographical footprint, including its intensive care facilities, means that
the Group is well placed to serve strong demand for diagnostic, surgical and other treatment demand from patients, on
private pay and group NHS pathways. However, this may be disrupted in the event of resurgence of the pandemic or a new

pandemic.

The inflationary pressures across the UK continue to impact the Group with the cost of providing care increasing with
particular pressure on staffing and energy costs in particular.

Management has sought to attract and retain high quality staff and ensure fair pay across the workforce, while seeking to
reduce reliance on agency staffing to manage labour costs appropriately. The industrial action by doctors and nursing staff
in the NHS has had no discernible impact on the Company to date.

The Group utilises energy price hedging to provide some price certainty for gas and power costs.
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Capital projects

The Group made a significant investment in its hospitals and technology during 2022, to increasc capacity to meet current
and future demand and to continue to provide excelletice in patient treatment in safe environments. The Group invested a
total of £86.6 million (including £16.3 million of finance lease funded assets but excluding additions to Right of Use
Property Assets under IFRS 16), including:

+ multi~million pound investment in the hospital facilities in Aberdeen, Glasgow, Birmingham, Bath and London;

+ installation of major imaging equipmient across the estate including renewal of 5 MRI, 4 CT and 7 Digital X-Ray scanmers
and a further 2 mobile MRI and 2 mobile CT scanners Lo enable flexible deployment to areas of highest diagnostic need;

« investment in medical technology to promote excellence in patient treatment, including over £7.0 million investment in
replacing and upgrading clinical equipment across the estate;

+ a new cardiac catheterisation Iab at the Group's Coventry hospital to improve access to rapid diagnostics and treatment for
patients;

* new ward capacity at our hospital in Camarthen, Wales to deliver increased capacity to support patient needs in the area;

+ completion of a new modular theatre at the Beaumont hospital in Bolton to increase capacity and provide increased access
lo care in the area; and

+ redevelopment of the othopaedic facilities at our Guildford hospital to allow improved access to first class care for
patients in the local community.

Finanecing and treasury transactions

In May 2622, the Group extinguished and refinanced its previous debt facilities with a three year revolving credit facility of
£250 million provided by a group of five banks. An amount of £180 million was drawn down under the facility at that time,
with £160 million remaining drawn as at 31 December 2022 and the remaining £90 million remaining available to the
Group.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Companies Act 2006 requires all companies to disclose and discuss the principal risks and uncertainties that they face
which, in most cases, are normal business risks. The Group manages risks through its committee structure, including
governance committees, and through the use of a regularly updated and reviewed risk register, and risk is discussed and
actioned on a regular basis by the directors.

The Group’s activities expose it to a number of non-financial risks including political risk, reputational risk and cyber risk.
The Group's activities also expose it to a number of financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk, cash flow risk
and liquidity risk. Any use of financial derivatives to manage these risks is governed by the group’s policies approved by
the board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage these risks. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Enterprise risk Identification and management

Risk is an unavoidable element of doing business, The Group’s risk management systems aim to provide assurance to the
Roard of directors regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk. This is managed via the Governance
and Assurance Framework, under which matters of significance and impact are discussed by the Integrated Governance
Committee ("1GC"), Operations Board, and the Audit and Risk Committee,

The following provides an overview of the principal business risk factors facing the Group, along with a description, where
relevant, of the mitigating actions in place.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal rislis and uncertaintics (eontinucd)

Adequecy of insurance scope and coverage

The Group is subject to litigation for actions by third parties or may be found liable for damages which may not be covered
by its insurance policies if not covered due to policy limitations or exclusion, or failure to comply with the terms of the
policy. This could lead to financial exposure for claim value not covered by the insurance policies or increase insurance
premiums impacting future financial pericds, Regular revicws are conducted together with the Group's insurance brokers to
ensure sufficient levels of cover are maintained across the Group. Further frequent communication with the Clinical and
Qperational functions to ensure that robust process for capturing and reporting of incidents,

Clinical risk

As with all hospital providers, clinical quality risk is a major consideration. The Group has an integrated clinical
governance structure which is managed by the Chief Medical Officer who sits on the Board. This structure includes senior
staff across the operational, clinical and central support teams. Each hospital site has its own local governance siructure,
while a team of ciinical care quality specialists is dedicated to developing up to date and consistent clinical and operational
policies across all sites. Local governance committees work to a rigorous assurance framework, manage day to day clinical
risks through a risk register, provide appropriate training to staff and consultants, and report their findings to the Group’s
Integrated Governance Committee (IGC) which was chaired by the Group’s Clinical Chairman and an independent Board
Director. The IGC in turn provides risk assurance reports to the boards of the relevant Group companies including the

Company.
Reputational visk

Reputational risk associated with poor clinical outcomes or patient satisfaction is mitigated by the focus on providing high
quality care at the Group’s facilities and constantly seeking to improve clinical services through the activities of the IGC
and related assurance reviews.

Contract and price visk

Drivate medical insurance: The Group is exposed to a highly concentrated PMI market, whereby the Group carries out
considerable activity under a small number of contracts with the major private medical insurers, which are subject to
periodic renegotiation as {o the access of insurers’ members ta the Group’s facilities and to the price of services, Changes to
or the ending of any of these contracts, ar to pricing within them, could affect the levels of activity or profitability of the
Group. The Group manages these risks through active account management, and demonstrating improvement across the
hospital network whether that is through technology and ¢linical equipment investment or increase scope of services offered
to patients. Additionally, the Group also seeks to maintain good relationships with the private medical insurers, to contract
on medium term arrangements and to agree pricing which takes into account potential increases in the Group’s own cast

base over time.

Self-pay; the Group provides medical services to self-pay patients. Increases in costs as a result of the inflationary pressure
in the UK could result in upward pressure on pricing for patients, potentially impacting the demand. To mitigate these risks,
the group seeks to maintain reasonable pricing, while still recovering increases in costs where possible.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Contract and price risk (continned)

NHS: the Group carries out work for the NIIS in England under standard contracts with Intergrated Care Boards ("1CBs")
(using the electronic refetral service), local contracts with NHS Trusts and occasionally (as during the pandemic through to
early 2021) directly with central NIIS organisations. The nature of these contracts and the consequent access of NHS
patients to the Group's facilities may be subject to change in the future. In general, the Group is paid the standard NHS tariff
for the work it carries out, so is subject to the uncertainty of future tariff changes which are determined centrally by the
NHS. The Group aims to mitigate these risks by acting as a reliable partner to NHS commissioners and consistently
providing high quality services to NHS patients in a cost-effective manner.

The Group's integrated care business delivers an integrated care model, which manages the whole patient pathway for
individual specialities through price capped contracts with the NHS. The Group generally secks to price these capped
contracts at levels that takes account of potentially increasing cost pressures and, where appropriate, to establish contract
terms that enables revenues to be adjusted in line with future annual NHS National Tariff inflation and demographic
growth. All contracts are subject to a public tender process.

Data protection and cyber risk

The Group is subject to data protection and cyber risk from cybercrime, [T systems failure and threats to data protection,
including data theit. The Group manages thesc risks through regular meetings of its Technology Governance sub-
committee, which has accountability for quality and safety of information and technology systems, assessing risk and
performance, making improvement recommendations and advising the Intergrated Governance Comniittee and Circle
Group Board. The Group also employs data protection and information security officers to oversee relevant risks, and
carties out periodic testing of certain risks as part of its overall assurance programime. Further the Group has in place cyber
insurance cover, covering a number of the first-party and third-party financial and reputational costs.

Government policy and regulatory risk

The provision and regulation of healthcare in the UK, including that by the independent sector, is the subject of periodic
review by government and regulatory bodies. New regulations, and funding arrangements, may be introduced in the future
which could have adverse effect on demand for the Group's services (from different payor groups), its operational costs and
the nature and cost of regalatory compliance.

Waorkforce availabllity risk

There is 2 shortage of nurses and healthcare staff across the UK and overseas, which has led to an increased usage of agency
labour. In the short term the Company can utilise increased agency staff to mitigate this. However in the medium to long
term, this will impact on profitability and would not be sustainable.

The Group is continues ta focus on attracting new talent to the Group, including the use of overseas nurses, while also
aiming to reduce staff turnover via improved staff engagement and competative remuneration.

Supply chain availability risk

The continued impact of the Covid pandemic, the UK's exit from the European Union and the Russia-Ukraine conflict has
resulted in shortages of various components utilised by the Group in its operations. This risk has been managed via the
combination of longer contracted terms with suppliers to safeguard against large price changes, as well the presence ofa
warehousing and logistics provider which gives the Group better and increased capacity to hold components with long
replacement leadtimes,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties {contiued}
Inflation risk

Given the global economic conditions, and political uncertainty in Europe, higher levels of inflation have been experienced
will consequent additional pressure on staff costs. The impact on the Group has been an increase in direct costs for goods
and services, not all of which can be covered by increased pricing. To mitigate this risk, where possible, the Company
enters into long term purchase agreements to protect and limit against the full effect of cost inflation. The large majority of
the Group's leases include a cap on the annual increases. Further, customer prices are being reasonably increased where
possible to reflect the increase in costs.

Energy costs

The global economic and political conditions within Europe have also led to large increases in energy prices. The Group
had hedged energy pricing until Q4 of 2022 and so was protected from these increases for the majority of the year, before
experiencing a significant increase in its gas and electricity costs from Qctober 2022, with costs expected to remain high
into 2023, The Group benefited from the government's energy price cap policy from 1 October 2022 until 31 March 2023.
For subsequent periods, the Group continues to hedge its gas and power pricing where appropriate to protect from higher
future prices in the wholesale markets.

A summary of the Group's electricity usage for the ycar can be seen in page I5 of the Directors’ report.

Interest rate risk

The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee has announced a series of interest rate rises during 2022 and 2023 to
date. Interest on the Circle Group’s new £250 million revolving credit facility is variable based on the Sterling Overnight
Index Average rate (SONIA) and so is exposed to changes in UK interest rates, The current drawn amount under the facility
al the date of these accounts is £150 million, and a 100 basis point increase in SONIA would result in a £1.5 million
increase in the Circle Group’s annual interest cost,

Credit risk

The Group's principal financial assets ave bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, and investments.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable te its trade receivables. This is managed by regular monitoring of existing
customer accounts and credit checks on new customers before credit is provided. The amounts presented in the Statement

of Financial Position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made when there is an
identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of cash flows.

Cash flow and liquidity visk

In the ordinary course of business, in order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing
operations and future developments, the Group uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt facilities, The Group
manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing
facilities are maintained to cover any short-term Hqnidity requirements.

The maturity of the debt facilities existing as at 31 December 2022 are detailed in note 19.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Environmental and climate change risk

The Circle Group’s energy and carbon reporting, as well as its approach to environmental management, is disclosed in the
Directors® report on page 15. The Directors have considered broader impacts of climate change and the potential impacts on
the business.

Other than those matters disclosed on page 15 of the Directors’ report relating consideration of the environmental impact of
capital programmes, the Directors consider that climate change risk would not have a material impact on the operating
model of performance of the business.

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1))

Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, directors of a company have a duty to promote the success of the company.
Specifically, it requires the director of a company to act in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would mast likely
promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as 2 whole. In performing their duties under section 172,
the directors of the Company have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1) as follows:

a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

The Board has set tong term strategic objectives for the Company focused on:

* clinical quality, patient experience and market leading reputation;

* attracting and retaining the best people;

* investment in infrastructure by improving the environment for patients and staff and capabilities;

» digital transformation to enable improved patient pathways, propositions and efficiency; and

* business growth.

These pillars form the basis of a five-ycar plan which is monitored and update periodically. The strategy and plan
supports decision-making around capital investment and allows the board to forecast funding requirements, debt
capacity and financing options that are required to deliver this. As described elsewhere in this report, the debt facilities
in place support the Company’s investment plans.

In developing the strategry, the Directors also consider external factors such as the political, economic, regulatory, and
competitive environment.

b) the interests of the company's employees
The Directors understand the importance of the Group’s employees to quality of care provided to patients, and so the
long-term success of the business.

There is regular engagement with employees through an Employee Voice Forum, weekly staff newsletters, and an
annual cmployee engagement programme. As a result of the most recent annual employee engagement survey, the
Group was awarded a 2-star outstanding employer rating by best companies™. The Group continues to use the results
of its annual employee engagement programme to invest further in improving the overall employee experience. This
includes investing in pay awards, increasing minimum basic hourly wage of contracted staff and by carrying out
regular salary benchmarking and pay review exercises to allow clinical and other stafT to be paid at competitive levels

in the market.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Seetion 1/2(1)) {conTinted)

¢) the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
The Board tegularly 1eviews how the Group maintains positive relationships with all of its stakeholders including

patients, consultants, suppliers and others.

The Group’s patient satisfaction surveys are run by an independent third party and show that 99 percent would
recommend our hospitals to their friends and family and 99 percent rated the overall quality of care as ‘very good” or
‘excellent’. The Group also underiakes consultant surveys to gauge the views of the surgeons and other medical
constltants practicing in our hospitals. The Board reviews the results of these surveys. Supplier relationships are
managed through the Group’s procurement team with longstanding relationships with key suppliers.

The Groups principal risks and uncertainties set out risks that can impact the long-term success of the Group and how
these risks interact with out stakeholders. The Directors actively seek information on the interaction with stakeholders
to ensure that they have sufficient information to reach appropriate conclusions about the risks face by the Group and

how these are reflected within the long-term plans.

d) the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment;

The Group has an ongoing capital investment programme to improve the hospital estate and bring new medical and
diagnostic equipment in to the hospitals. The capilal project process considers the environmental impact and energy
efficiency of programmes of work to monitor and improve this over time.

The Company and its employees also support local and national charities through various fund raising, sponsorship
and matched giving initiatives, as well as raising donations to provide supplies and equipment to hospitals in Ukraine,

e) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standaxds of business conduct
As a healthcare provider, the Directors believe that maintaining the reputation of the Group is critical for the future
success. Clinical quality and govemance is at the heart of the culture of the Group and receives significant focus at

Board level.

The Board is committed to high standards of business conduct and details of the governance structuses are set out in
the annual Quality Account, available on the Circle Health Group website.

f} .the need to act fairly as between members of the company
The Group holds monthly meetings with shareholders represented. Shareholders have worked effectively together to

agree the course for the long term future of the Group.

The Company and its board of directors (‘the Board’) is committed to and has applicd the principles of corporate
governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Jarge private companies for the year ended 31
December 2022, Further explanation of how each principle has been applied is set out in the Statement of corporate
governance arrangements.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern

The Directors have performed a going concern assessment and concluded there is a reasonable expectation that the Group
and Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for a period of at least {2 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements, the going concern assessment period, for the following reasons.

The Directors have considered the consolidated balance sheet position of the Group, which reflects the cumulative impact
of non-cash accounting charges relating to impairments as well as the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges. The
Directors have alsa considered the sirong operating performance of the Group and the strong operating cash flows, which
are sufficient to fund the capital investment requirement of the Group.,

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going concern review and have also
applied vartous sensitivitics. These forecasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the directors of the Company together
with the undertlying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group has sufficient cash and facilities to provide liquidity

through the review period.

The Group’s senijor facilities (set out in note 19) are guaranteed by the Company’s ultimate parent company, Centene
Corporation, and financial covenants for the facilities are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial performance. The covenant reporting shows
that the covenants have been complied with throughout the period and the forecast financial performance indicates that they
will be complied with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headroom.

On 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whercby Pure Health Holding LLC
(‘Pure Health”) (a major healthcare operator based in the Middle East, with a range of international healthcare investments)
will, through its UK subsidiary, acquite Circle Health Holdings Limited and its subsidiary undertakings from the Centene
Corporation group, with the transaction expected to close in the first quarter af 2024, No material change to the operating
activities of the Group is expected in the period to closing of the {ransaction.

The directors have considered the future financing arrangements for the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of
the transaction, including the provision of funds to repay existing borrowings and to provide working facilities.
Management has prepared liquidity forecasts on that basis which show that, following completion of the transaction, this
will provide adequate liquidity for the Group with appropriate headroom,
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Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern {(continued)

The directors do not believe there will be any material change to the scope or nature of the Group's operations, following
completion of the transaction and within the goiing concern assessment period. As with a change of ownership of any
company, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty as to the future plans of the proposed new owners, for the
stralegic direction of the Company, The directors have had discussions with the proposed acquiror and received
representations from them. Based on this, at the date of approval of these financial statements, the directors have no reason
to believe that the entity will not continue as a going concern.

The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals. In the event that these conditions
are not met and thercfore the transaction does not close {or is delayed) the existing financing and facilities would remain in
place which, as noted above, provide adequate liquidity for the Group.

Afler making enquiries and based on the evidence available at the date of approval of these financial statements, including
reviewing the facts and circumstances note above, and the Group's forecasts and downside sensitivities, the directors have
concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources available to

them, to continue in operational exisience and meet its liabilitics as they fall due for the foreseeable future, and at least for

12 months from the date of these financial statements.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the tinancial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

fra

Henry Davies
Chief Financial Officer

20 NoYEMDAT 2023
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2622

This report forms part of the Directors' report. The Company and its board of directors (*the Board”} is committed to and
has applied the principles of corporate governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large
private comparies for the year ended 31 December 2022, Further explanation of how each principle has been applied is set

out below.

Purpose and leadership

The Board and Company have regular communications with stakeholders and this is different case by case. The key
stakeholders and the specific forum for engagement arc listed below:

« Patients — patient feedback forms, complaints management policies, provision of information to Private Healthcare
Information Network (PHIN) whose role it is to provide independent information to patients about private healthcare
providers

* Regulators — frequent relationship meetings with CQC, HIS and HIW and commuuication via Independent Healthcare
Provider Network (IHPN)

* Employees — Employee Voice Forum and employee engagement programme

¢ Consultants — Medieal Advisory Committees within each hospital (MAC) chaired by a Hospital Clinical Chair

+ NHS — local relationships with Trusts and [CBs, and central relationships with NHS England and other national NHS
bodies

* Insurers — relationships and regular engagement with the commercial team

* Suppliers - refationships and regular engagement with the procurement team

The Directors have established a purposc statement for the Group “To provide the high quality, safe and compassionate
care our patients need and expect.” supported by the principles of:

+ “we believe that patients come first”;

+ “we believe in our people™;

* “we believe that ‘good enough’ never is”; and

+ “we helieve in being open-minded and innovative”,

and also supported by the following values:

+ “we value people who are selfless and compassionate”;

» “wg value people who are collaborative and committed”;
+ “we value people who are agile and brave”; and

* “we value people who are tenacious and creative”.

The Company is comumitted to building a culture which encourages staff to speak up safely. This is supported by our
“Freedom to Speak Up Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing)” policy and the role of the “Freedom to Spealc Up Guardian”.
“Freedom to Speak Up™ leads were appointed in each hospital and have the support of their local management teams, the
Group’s guardian and our Chief Medical Officer who has Executive responsibility for “Freedom to Speak Up”.
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Staternent of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Purpose and leadership (continued)

The Company has various policies to wiligate the risk of conflicts of interest including the conflicts of interest and fraud,
anti-bribery and corruption palicies suppotted by a mandatory training programme. In addition all healthcare professionals
have ethical requirements under their individual professional rcgistrations to conduct themselves in an ethical manner and
in the best interests of patients, Where the Group has commercial relationships with medical consultants these arc
disclosed on the Circle Healthcare website.

There are examples of how the directors have considered their duties in relation to s172 b), in the manner in which it
engages with employees, as set out in the Strategic Report.

Board composition
The Circle Health Holdings Limited Board is comprised of directors who have healthcare experience and other relevant

experience, Details of directors who have served over the period are included in the Directors’ Report.

Directars’ responsibilities

The Group has a clearly defined governance framework, based on Board and Governance Assurance Frameworks, and
Commitiee structures. The Board is supported by the Integrated Governance Cormunittee, which had primary responsibility
for the oversight of clinical and other related governance and risks, and the Audit and Risk Committee, which had primary
responsibility for the oversight of financial and related governance and risks in the Group, together with a series of
operational and governance boards, committees and sub-commiltees, with established terms of reference.

Opportunity and risk

The Company continually seeks opportunity to create value for stakeholders from growth in activity and improvement in
fihancial result, using the existing assets of the Company and through investment in new facilities, equipment and
technology. The risks that threaten these opportunities have been described earlier in this risk, and are under active
management through the Company’s risk management systems.

Remuneration

On any new appointment the board considers the market and remuneration packages that are commensurate to the role.
Short term incentive artangements are based on the quality and performance of business. The market conditions are
reviewed on a regular basis. The Group’s Gender Pay Report 2022 is available on the Group's website,

Stakeholder relationship and engagement

There are various mechanisms for information to be collected to inform the Board’s view of thelr impact on stakeholders.,
Information about patients is obtained from various clinical indicators and patient reported outcome measures (PROMS).
The Group monitors its impact on the envitonment through review of the carbon emissions reporting (see further

information on this elsewhere in the Directors® Report]. Other stakeholder cnigagement mechanisms are set out in the first

principle regarding ‘Purpose and Leadership'.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report on the affairs of the Company, together with the audited financial statements and auditor’s report,
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Details of the Group's principal activity, events affecting the Company since the financial period end, an indication of likely future
developments in the business, details of finaneial risk management, engagement with employees, suppliers and customers and a
statement on going concern have been included in the Strategic report and therefore form part of this Directors' report by reference.

Dividends
The directors do not propose a dividend for the year (2021: £nil).

Trivectors

The directors who served throughaut the year, except as noted, and subsequently are as shown below:

Peter Sullivan

John Hution

Brent Layton

Beverley Tew (appointed 23 February 2022)
Paolo Pieri

tHenry Davies

Paul Manning

Directors' and officers’ insurance

The Company has procured qualifying third party indemnity insurance for all Directors and Officers of the Company and all Group
companies. The Company has directors' and officers' insurance for the benefit of, amangst others, the directors of the Company,
which is in place at the date of this report.

Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the cvent of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the
Company continues and that appropriate adaptations are made. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development
and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Employee consultation

The Company places considerable value on the invalvement of its employees, and has continued lo keep them informed on matiers
affecting them as employees and an the various factors affecting the performance of the company. This is achieved through formal
and informal meetings, the company newsletter, and regular emails, Employee representatives are consulted regularly on a wide
range of matters affecting their current and future interests and a staff survey is completed and reported on each year.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Energy and carbon reporting

The data reported on below include all sources of Green House Gas (GHG} emissions and energy usage as required uader the Large
and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended. This has been compited in line
with the *Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance 2020°.

Circle emissions and energy usage

For Circle Health Group, GHG emissions and energy usage date for period 1 January to 31 December

022 2021
Tennes af Tonnes of

CO,e COe
(Gas consumption {Scope 1) 10,228 13,864
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes {Scope 1) 951 923
Emissions from electricity purchased for own use, including for the

11,758 14,237
purposes of transport (Scope 2)
Coal {industrial) (scope 1) 969 877
Other petroleum gas (Calor) (scope 1) i4 14
Fuel il (generator fuel) (scope 1) 320 189
Emissions fiom business travel in employee-owned vehicles where 198 221
company pays for fuel indirectly (Scope 3)
Total 24,638 30,325
Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (k'Wh) 121,376,838 150,555,533
Revenge (£'m) 1,892 1,052
‘Fannes of CO,e per revenue {per £'m) 23 29

During the financial year the Company continued to develop its systems and management approach to reduce its environmental

impact, The Health and Safety committee regularly reviews and evaluates opportunities to reduce our environmental impact and
related costs. The continued focus remains on the major utilities of electricity, gas, water and wastewater along with the material
commedities of both healtheare and geileral waste management and recycling.

‘The Environmental management process is broken down into two key management areas: Waste Management (including recycling)
and Utilities Management.

Waste management, including recycling elements, are covered and monitored by the Regional Health and Safety managers in
cooperation with local site Waste Officers; Utilities management elements are managed by the Regional Engineering Managers with
local supporl from environment officers and site engineers. This delegation of responsibilities makes best use of the skillset within

the teams.

The Group has followed the 2021/2022 UK Government environmental reporting guidance and used the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reparting Standard (revised edition) and emission factors from the UK Government’s GG Conversion Factors for
Company Reporting 2020 to calculate these disclosures, The Group is currently putting in place new structures to sapport its
sustainability goals which will include detailed plans towards becoming Net Zeto in line with the current government requirements,
Oobortunities to exceed those taygets will be cvaiuated as identified,
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Cirele Iealth Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Disclasure of infarmatian to the 2uditar
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

+ 50 far as the director s aware, there is no relevant audit information of wiich the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

+ the director has laken all the steps that she or he ought to have taken as a director in order to make herself or himself aware of any

relevant audit information and to esiablish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Awditor

KPMG have expressed their willingness 1o continue in office as auditor of the Company and appropriate arrangements are being made
for them to be deemed reappointed in the absence of an Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

a—

Director: Heary Davies

29 Nesemnher. ... 203
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' responsibilities statcment
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of Directors® responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the. Antual Reput L and the Group and parent Compuny financial statcments 1
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards
and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK. accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepled Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework,

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a truc and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group’s profit or foss for that period. In preparing each of
the Group and parent Campaay financial statements, the directors are required to:

« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

» make judgements and eslimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent,

» for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adepted international accounting
standards;

« for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

- use the going cancern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to ceasc
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that ave sufficient to show and explain the parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent Company and enable them io
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary 1o enable the prepatation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fiaud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditon’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Opinion

We have andited the Niancial slaleinents of Circle Health Holdings Limited (the Company'™) for the year ended 31 December
2022 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position,
Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement of Changes in
Equity, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our epinion:

* the financial statemerits give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

* the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

+ the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companics Act 2006,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are indcpendent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the andit evidence we have
obtained 1s a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directars have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or
the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the Company’s financial position
means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant
daubt aver their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements

(“the going concern period™).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s business model and analysed
how those risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going

concern period.
Cur conclusions based on this work:

* we consider that the divectors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate;

* we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related to events or
conditions that, individually or collcctively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict alt future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that

the Group or the Company will continue in operation.
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Independent auditor’s repott
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability o detect
Llemifving and respondmg to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to frand (“fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an
incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to cotrunil fraud. Qur risk assessment procedures included:

+ Enquiring of directors and inspection of palicy documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent
and detect fraud as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

* Reading Board and Audit and Risk Committee minutes.

+ Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management, and directors.

*» Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the
audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressure to meet profit targets and our overall knowledge of
the control environment, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk
that Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entrics. On this audit we do not believe there is a
fraud risk related to revenue recognition because there are limited incentives, pressurcs or opportunities to perpetrate a material

fraud.
We did not identify any additional fraud risks,
We performed procedures including:

« Identifying journal entrics to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporiing documentation.
These included those posted to unusual pairings with cash accounts,

+ Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias,

Hdentifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulaiions

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
staternents from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the directors, legal team and other

management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors, legal team and other management the policies
and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations,

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.
Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that direotly affect the financial statements including financial reporting

legislation (inciuding related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation legislation and we assessed the
extent of campliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)
Hdentifying and responding to visks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations {continued)

Secondly, (he Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a
material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financiaf staternents, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation or
the loss of the Group's license to operate. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: health
and safety, data protection laws, employment and social security legislation, fraud, corruption and bribery laws, environmental
protection legislation, public service procurement laws, regulations of the Care Quality Commission and certain aspects of
company legislation recognising the nature of the Group’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of
regulatory and legal cotrespondence, if any. Therefore if a breach of operational regulations js not disclosed to us or evident
from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect frand or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detecied some material
misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with
auditing standards, For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inhcrently limited procedures required by auditing standards

would identify it
In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional emissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Qur audit procedures are designed to detect’

material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliahce with all Jaws and regalations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors” report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
caver those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thercon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or
our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

* we have nol identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the divectors’ report;

* in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

* in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if;, in our epinion:

+ adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

+ the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more tully in their stalement set aut on page 17, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
staternents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they detennine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concemn; and using the going cancern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditar’s responsibilities

Our objectives arc to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are frec from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report, Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always delect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or ervor and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of uscrs taken on the basis of the financial

statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www.fic.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
The purpase of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companics Act
2006. Cur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpese. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s membets, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

O i

David Simpson (Senior Statutary Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

58 Clarendon Road
Watford,
WD17 IDE

vlDecember 549,
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Notes
Revenue 4
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Operating profit before exceptional items
Exceptional administrative expenses 5
Operating profit
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 25
Finance income 8
Finance costs 9
Loss before tax
Income tax credit/{charge) 10

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to:
Owmers of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statcments.

2022 2021
£2000 £000
1,091,724 1,05¢,642
(898,146) (845,520)
193,578 206,122
(104,301) (111,860)
89,277 94,262
(39,175) (11,609)
50,102 82,653
- 3,267
136 54
(137,788) (137,376)
(87,350) (51,402)
6,985 {1,274)
(80,363) (52.,676)
(81,400) (53,594)
1,035 918
(80,365) (52,676)




Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
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Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Items that will not subsequenily be reclassified to profit or loss (all net of tax):
Actuarial gain on scheme obligations

Actuarial loss on scheme assets

Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset

Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes

Net effect in reserves arising from movements on future scheme commitment

Total items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net
of tax)

Items that will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss:
Tax on equity-settled share-based payments

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive expense for the year

The above amounts were derived from continuing operations.

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£2000 £000
(80,365) (52,676)
38,257 4,028
(38,669) (3,862)
1,353 8,373

941 8,539
©41) (8,539)
145 -
145 -
(80,220) (52,676)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statement of other comprehensive income.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 December 2022
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Non-corrent asseis
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivabies
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Lease liabilities

Non-currenf liabilities
Provisions

I.oans and other barrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total liabilities
Net (liabilities)/assets

Share capital

Share premium

Other reserves

Accumulated losscs

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Total equity

Notes

11
12
13
14

16
18

22
23
17

23
19
21
17

24
24
24

2022 2021
£°000 £000
38,617 46,413
147,478 147,478
1,714,355 1,734,676
4,299 5,142
1,004,749 1,933,709
17,746 17,276
93,173 75,712
35,013 102,915
145,932 195,903
2,050,682 2,129,612
(178,756) {169,709)
(14,679) (17,086)
(14,159) (8,065)
(207,594) (194,860)
- (118)
(161,034) (214,038)
(4,412) (11,133)
(1,703,298) (1,666,021)
{1,868,744) (1,891,310)
(2,076,338) (2,086,170)
(25,656) 43,442
57 21
201,440 201,476
11,281 -
(241,423) (160,487)
(28,645) 41,010
2,989 2,432
(25,656) 43,442
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2022 (continued)

The financiat statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the Board of Directors and autharised
for issue on 29 NQVEINREL... 2023, They were signed an its behalf by:

VYR S

Name: Henry Davies
Director

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of thege financial statements.

The company’s registered number is 10543098,
The company's registered address is Lst Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, England.
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Circte Health Holdings Limiled

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
year ended 31 December 2022

Share Share  Adcummlated Other :unlrr::r:;;

capita) premium Jastex reserves Toal interest ‘Total equlty

£000 £'000 £'900 £000 £7000 £'000 £'000
Balance as at 31 December 2020 21 20147 (107.106) - 84,30 1,583 _ 95,916
Surmsnls ol wodu [PV 2 foole 21 R 213 . 213 - n3
Dividends - - - - - {1 an
(Loss) prafit and toral comprehensive (expensc)iscomes for e year - - {53,594) - (53,5943 918 152,676)
Baiance us 8t 3| December 1021 BT T aniAse. hasn . 4iple. s | _asda
Other movenenés (nnta 24} kLY (15) - - - - -
Equity-sertled shave hased payment inote 24} - R . 11281 11,281 - 11,251
Acquisition of non-contrelling iuterests (uote 133 - - s - 39 39 (140)
Divikenuls - - - - . (1% (t9)
(Loss)prafil and lowat comprebensive (expensc)/income far the year - - {31,255) - 81,255) 1,035 (40,120)
Dalunce us ot 31 December 2021 57 701440 Xi23) 11381 __(Beds) __ 3989 ____ (35.6%6)

The nekes on papes 28 (o 56 form part of these financiad stalements,
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022
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Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash flow from opcrating activitics (note 26)
Interest received

Interest paid

Tax paid

Net cash inflows from operating activities

Cash fiows from investing activities

Dividends received from associates and joint ventures
Purchase of computer software

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary (note 25)

Net eash outflows from investing activities
Repayment of lease liabilties
Repayments of loans and borrowings

Loan transaction costs paid
Consideration paid for acquiring minority interest holding (see note 15)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and eash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash at bank and i hand

Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statements,

2022 2021
£2000 £000
199,080 184,393
336 54
(137,406) (129,727)
179 (3,728)
61,831 50,092
2,534 2,450
(857) (1,022)
(62,997) (57,153)
1,346 677

- 788
(59,974) (54,260)
(10,599) (13,496)
(58,000) -
(1,020 -
(140) -
(69,759) (13,496)
(67,962) (16,764)
102,915 119,679
35013 102915
35,013 102,915
35,013 102,915
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

t.  General information

Circle Health Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’ or ‘Group’) is a private company limited by shares that is incorporated, registered and domiciled in the United
Kingdom unader the Companics Act 2006, The registered office is Ist Floor 30 Cannon Street, London, EC4M 6XH. The rature of the Group and Company’s
aperations and its principal activities are sct out in the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 11, The financisl statements are for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2, Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The Group financial staternents consolidate those of the parent company and its subsidiaties. The parent company financial statements present information about

the Company as & separate entily and nat ebout jts Group.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards ("UK adopted TFRS™) and the
Campanies Act 2004,

The consolidated and company financial statements have been prepared under the histerical cost convention, as explained in the accounting policies betow.
Historical ¢ost is penerally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be reccived 1o sell an asset or paid to transfer a Lability in an orderly transaction between macket participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Group takes into zccount the characieristies of the asset or liability if market participants would takc those characieristics into account when
pricing the asset of liability at the measurement datc. Fair value for measurement purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based ptyment transactions that are within the scope of [FRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 16, and measurements thet have some
similarities 1o fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or valhe in use in 1AS 36.

The presentational and functional currency of the Group and the Company is pounds (GBP). Alt financial information has been raunded to the nearest thousand.

The Company has ¢lected to prepare the Conupany financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, Reduced Disclosure Framework!
(FRS 101). The Company financial statements bave been prepared in accordance with The Companies Act 2006 as applicablé to companies using FRS 101,

The Company financial statements are presented on pages 57 to 61,

The following excmptions fram the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of the Company financial statemenis:

* The requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments;
+ The sequirement in paragraph 38 ol TAS 1 Presentation of Financizl Statements ta present comparative information in respeet of paragraph 79(a)(iv) of LAS I

» The requiresicnts of paragraphs 10(d), 16(£), 16, 384, 38B, 38C, 38D, 404, 408, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134 to 136 of IAS I
+ The requirements of IAS 7 Statemvent of Cash Flows;
* The requitements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS & Accounting Palicies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors;

+ The requirenients of paragraphs 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures; and
« The requircments in JAS 24 to disclose related party transactions entered into belween twe or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is

a party to the ransaction is wholly owned by sach a member.

The principal accounting policies for the Graup and Company are set out below:

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

The following amendments were cffective during the financial year, The Group has performed an assessment and concluded that ne impact will be scenasa
result of these chanpes:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Dusiness Combinations—Reference to the Conceplual Framework

Amendments to 1AS 16— Propenty, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to 1AS 37 Pravisions, Contingent Liahilitics and Contingent Assets—Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and TAS 41

Agricalture
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

%

Accounting policies (continued)

New and revised IFRS Standards in issuc but not yet eftective

Al the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are
agt yor affartini

IF includi
FRS 17 (including the June 2620 Amendments to Insurance Conpracts

IFRS 17)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and FAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joini Ventire
Amendments to IAS | Classification of Liabilities as Cttrrent or Non-curvent

Q:;:::zf;ls ©IAS | ad IFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments lo TAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to [AS 12 Deferred Tax related to Asseis and Liabilities avising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to EAS | Nown-cirvent Liabilities with Covenants

Amendmeats to IFRS 16 Liabitity in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IFRS 17 Initial upplication of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 Comparative Information

The directars do not expest that the adoption of the Siandaids listed abave will bave a material impact on the financial statements of the Group in future perinds,
except as noted below:

Amendments to IAS I Presemation of Financial Statem enis—Classification of Liabilitizs as Current or Nou-cwrven!

The amendments to [AS | affect only the presentation of liabilities as curreat er non-cusrent in the slatement of financial position and nat the amount of timing of
recognition of any asset, Jiability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those ilems.

The amendments clatify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unaftected by expectations nbout whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain that rights are in
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of “settlement’ to make clear that seltlement refers to the
transfer 1o the covnterparty of cash, equity instruments, other asscls ar services,

‘The amendments arc applicd retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted.

Amenduienss to JAS | Presentation of Financial Staternents and 1FRS Practice Statement 2 Afaking Materiality Judgements—Disclosure of Accounting
Palicies

The amendments change the requirements in TAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendment replaces all instances of the term
‘sigrificant accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy information'. Accounting policy information js matcrial if, when considercd together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statemens, it can reasonably be expected to intluence decisians that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in: {AS | are also amended fo clarify that aceounting pelicy information that relates lo immaterial transactions, other events or
cendidons is immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may be matetial because of the nature of the related transactions, other events
ar conditions, even if the anpyounts are immaterial, However, not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other eveats or conditions is

itself material.
The Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the *four-step materiality process” described in IFRS Practice

Statement 2,
The amendiments to TAS | are effective for annual periods beginning on or after | Janvary 2023, with earlier application permitted and are appiied prospectively.
The amendments Lo IFRS Practice Statement 2 do nat contain an effective date or transition requirements.

Amendmenis to LAS 8 Accounting Policies Clanges In Aceonnting Fstineates and Errors—Definition of Accounting Estimates

The ameadments replaces the deficition of a change in accounting estimates with a defiuition of accounting estimates. Under the mew defmition, accotinting
estimates are *monetary amounts In financial statements that ate subject to measurement uncertainty”.

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. However, the TASB retained the concept of chianges in accounting estimates in the Standard with

the following clarifications:
+ a change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developments is not the correction of an error; and
+ the effects of a change in an input v a measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result

from the correction of prior period errors.

The LASB added two cxamples (Examples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing 1AS 8, which accompanies the Standard. The IASB has deleted one example
{Example 3) as it could cause confusion in light of the amendments,

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or afier 1 January 2023 to changos in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates
that eceur on or sfter the beginning of that period, with earlier application permitied.
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Accounting palicles {continued)
Amendments to IAS 12 Iuceme Taves—Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transacdon

The amendments introduce a fisrther exception from the initisl recognition exemption. Under the ameadments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition
exemption for transactions that give rise ta equal taxable and deguctible temporary difterences.

Depending on the applicable tax iaw, equal taxable and deductible temporary difterences may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and af¥ects neither accounting nor taxable profit, For example, this may arise upon recognition of a Jease Bability and the
corresponding right-of-use assct applying IFRS 16 af the commencement date of a lease,

Folowing the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required lo recognise the related deferred tax asset and liability, with the ecognition of any deferred tax asset
being subject to the recoverability criteria in TAS 12,

The [ASB also added an illustrative example to FAS 12 that expiains how the amendments are zpplied.

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the

earliest comparative periad an entity recognises:
« a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is prabable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) end a
deferred tax lability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associnted with:
- right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
- decommiissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the coresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the related asset;
» the cumulative effecs of initially applying the amendnients ag an adjustment t the opening halance of relained earnings (or other compenent of equity, us

appropriate) at that dale.

The amendments we effective for annual reporting perieds beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with easlier application permitied.

Golng coneern

The Directors have performed a gaing concern assessmeitt and coicluded thers is a reasanable expectation that the Group and Company fas adequate sesaucces
to continue in operational existence for a period of at least [2 mmonths from the date of approval of these financial statements, the going concern assessnient
period, for the follewing reasons,

The Directors have considered the consolidated balance shect position of the Group, which reflects the cumulative impact of non-cash accounting charges
relating to impairments as well as the impact of IFRS 16 leasc accounting charges. The Dircctors have also considered the strong operating performance of the
Group and the strong operating cash flows, which arc sufficicnt to fund the capital investment requircment of the Group.

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecests for the purpose of the going concern review and have also applied various sensitivities. These
forecasts and sensilivities have been reviewed by the directors of the Canipany tagether with the underkying assumptions. The forccasts show that the Group has

sufticient cash and facilities to provide liquidity thraugh the review periad.

The Group’s senior facilities (set out in note 19) are guaranteed by the Company’s ultiniate parent company, Centene Cerporation, and financial covenants for
the facilities are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Company have reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial
performance, The covenant reporting shows that the covenants have been complied with throughout the peried and the forecast financial performance indicates
that they witl be comptied with throughout the forecast perind with appropriate headroom.

On 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement hag been signed whereby Pure Health Holding LLC (*Pure Health') (8 major healthcara
operator based in the Middle Eas, with a range of intemational liealibcare investments) will, dirough its UK subsidiary, acquire Circle Health Holdings Limited
and its subsidiary undertakings from the Ceniene Corporation group, with the transaction expected to close in the first quarter of 2024. No material change to the
operating activities of the Group is expected in the petiod to closing of the transaction.

The directars have considered the future financing amangentents for the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of the ransaction, including the provision
of funds 1o repay existing borrowings and to provide working facitities. Management has prepared liquidity forecasts on that basis which show that, following
completion of the transaction, this will provide adequate liquidity for the Group with appropriate headroons.

The directors do not believe there will be any material change to the scope or nature of the Group's operations, following completion of the transaction and within
the going concern assessment period. As with a change of cwnership of any company, the directors acknowledge that there can be na certainty as to fhe future
plans of the proposed new owners, for the strategic direction of the Company. The directors have had discussions with the propased acquiror and received
represeniations from them, Based on ihis, at the date of approval of these financial statements, the directors have no reason to believe that the entity will nat

continue as 4 going concern.

The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals, In the event that these conditions are not met and therefore the
transactien does not close {or is delayed) the existing financing and facilities would remain in place whicl, as noted zbave, provide adequate liquidity for the

Group.
Afler making enquiries and based on the evidence available at the date of approval of these financial statements, including revicwing the facts and circumstaaces

note above, and the Group's forecasts and downside sensitivities, the directors have concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the
Caompany have adequate resources available te them, to comtinue in operational existence and meet jis liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future, and at

least for 12 months from the date of these financial statements.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concemn basis ia preparing the financial statements.
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2. Accounting policies (cantinued)

Basis of Consolidation

A subsidiary iz an entity conlrolley, Jire dly i indircetly, Contrel ie reparded as the power to govern ihe financial and operating policies of the subsidiary so as to
benefit from its activities. The financial results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is obtained until the date that control ceases, All lutra Uroup
transactions are eliminated as part of the cansolidatian process.

Non-coutralling interests {"NCI") are measured initially at their propostionate share of the acquizec’s identifiable net assels af the date of acquisition.
Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiory that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Whea control is Jost over a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilitics and any related NCI and ather compaonents of equity of that subsidiary.
Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or Joss, Any interest retained in the former subsidiary js measured at fair value when control is lost.

Business combinations

Under the requirements of IFRS 3 (revised), all business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transforred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. [dentifiable assets
acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a buginess combination are measurcd at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs
are expenscd as incurred. An intangible assct, such as a brand, is recognised if it meets the definition of an itangible asset under LAS 38 *Intangible assets’. The
excess of the cost of the acquisition aver the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Goadwill and other intanpible aggets

Intangible assets with finite useful ives {hat are acquired separately arc carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impaimment losses. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effcet of any changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately ace carried at cost less accumulated impainnent losses.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions i eapitalised, held on the balance sheet indefinitely and subject to 2n inipairment review, both annually and when there is an
indication that the carrying valuc may not be rccoverable.

Acquired contracts are separately identified fiom goodwill acquired ss part of a business combination and are initially stated at fair valuc as at the acquisition
date. The fair value attribulable is detormined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted average
cost of capital appropriate to that inlargible asset, The assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated wseful lives which range from 9 to 15
YERrS.

Acquired computer software (defined as software that is nat considered an integral part of the hardware equipment) is capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific asset (estimated useful life not exceeding three years),

Brands are separately identified fiom goodwill acquired as part of a business combination and are inisially stated at fair value as at the acquisition date. The fair
value sttributable is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted average cost of capital
appropriate to that intangible assel, The assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives which range from 5 to 13 years.

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from: the provision of medical services to privately insured, se)-pay and NHS-funded patients at facilities lacated across the UK.
At a hospital level revenue is measured by paticnt type, boing inpatient, outpatient and day case. The key driver for invoieing and accounting recagnition is the
customer to whom the service is being provided. Management is required to take eli relevani factors and circumslances inlo account when determining the
revenue recognition methods that appropriately depict the ransfer of control of goads or services ta the customer for each performance obligation. This requ ires
management lo make certain judgements, including: the determination of the performance obligations in the contract; the estimate of any variable consideration
in determining the contract prics; the allocation of the price to the performance obligations inherent in the contract; and an appropriate methed of recognising
revenue.

In determining the appropriate method of recognising revenue, management are required to make judgements as to whether performance obligations are satisfied
over a period of time or at a poini in time, For performance obligations that are satisfied over a period of tine, judgements are made as to whether the output
method or the input method is inore appropriate to mensure progress towards complete satisfaction of the perfonmance obligation. If performance obligations ate
net satisfied over time, the Group recagnises revenuc at a point in ime,

Revenue, which is measured as the fiir value of consideration received for the activity performed, represents the total amounts derived primarily from the
provision of healthcare services in the UK, aficr deducting valee added tax (where services provided are not exempt).

The Group recognises contract liabililies for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations and reports these amounts as other
liabilities in its consolidated statement of financial pesition. Similatly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the
Group recagnises cither a contract asset or a receivable in its consolidated statement of financiaf position, depending en whether something other than the
passage of time is required before the consideration is due.

Management has undertaken & detailed assessment of all revenue streants using the five-siep approach specified by IFRS 15
« Identify the contract(s) with the customer

« Identify the performance oblipations in the contract

+ Determine the transaction price

+ Allocate the transaction price 12 \he performance obligations in the contract

« Recognisc revenue when (or as) g performance obligation is satisficd
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Accounting polictes (contlnued)

Revenue (conlinued)

Ruvenue vun be Lictlcen down inte the follmwing main rategnries:

WHS Hospital Provision (any qualified provider and divect contracting)

Any provider who is able to provide a specific service that meets the required minimum standards can be listed as a possible provider to deliver healthcare on
behalf of the NHS at national tariff. Patients choose their preferred provider under the national e-reterral system (formerly the Choosc and Book system).

Following the paiients’ [reatment and subsequent discharge from hospital, the Group will invoice the relevant Intergrated Care Board ("FCB™) directly at tariff for
the ntedical procedure performed and recognise the applicable revenue. The performance of the treatment is the sole performance obligation (representing that
this is when the service is transferred), and so the whole tariff price is allocated to that performance obligation, No pravider is guaranteed any voleme or
exclusivity, It additian to any qualified provider revenue, some revenue is eamed from contracts with the NHS Trusts, with performance of treatments being the

sole performance obligation.

The Group ulso earmed revenue from central NHS bodies and local heaith schemes in England, Scotland and Wales under contracts put in place to allow the
independent sector 1o suppuort the NHS during the Covid-19 pandemic.

NHS Contracts with guaranteed payments

Integrated Cate conteacts have a term, usually, of five years. The contract invalves a *prime provider' (Circle) who lakes responsibility for coordinating and
managing the delivery of services across a Jocal bealth system. Cirele's main contracting parties are the local comuissioner (ICB) and local care providers. The
contract revénue is recognised to the extent that the Group obtains the right 1o consideration in exchange for its perfonnance and is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received for activity performed (in accordance with IFRS 15).

The annual revenue relates to the year beginning ¢ April and ends on 31 March in the fallowing year. The revenue is deterntined at the beginning of the year, in
respect of the contract and any demographic grawth in the focal heatth system. The annual revenue is spread monthly across the year in a manner that reficcts the
proportion of total annual cost anticipated 10 be borne in that month. This is to reflect the contracts® main performance obligation of coordinating and managing
the delivery of services ta patients, with the cost of these services incurred reflecting the completion of the performance obligation,

Private and self-pay

Revenue is recogaised based an proceduces performed either at contractually agreed insurance prices or self-pay rates. These are determined by the specifie
procedure undertaker. The completion of the medical procedure is the sole performance obligation, end so the whole price is allocated to that performance
cbligation. In the case of Private Medical Insurer revenue, the insurance companies pay the consuitants directly and Circle recognises revenue for use of the
hospital, consumables and other clinical services which are recognised as pravided.

Far self-pay patients, Circle recognises revenue when the performance obligation has been satisfied.

In accordance with [FRS 15, the Company recognises revenue when performance obligations have been satisfied and for the Company this is when the services
have been provided to the Group operating cempanies. Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Company obiains the right to consideration in exchange for
its performance and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received for activity performed.

Other revenue streams

The Group has other revenue streams including administrative fees charged to consultants, selling medical supplics to third parties and room rental. Under TFRS
15, revenue is only recognised when performance obligations are satisficd, whether that is the provision of administralive services or transfer of goods as part of

inventory sales.

Exceplicnal administrative expenses

The Group presents certain material exceptional items and fair value adjustments separately in the income statement, if they are material because of thelr size or
their natare (such as acquistion related costs). The Dircctors consider that the separate reparting provides a clearer understanding of the Group's underlying
performance.

Finance costs

Finance costs arc recognised on an cffective interest rate basis in the period in which they are incurred, except where lhey are directly atrributable to the
acquisition or produetion of a qualifying asset which takes a substantiat period of time tc get ready for intended use, such as the construction of a hospital. Tn
such eases, borrowing costs are capitaiised as part of the cost of that asset from the first date on which expenditure is incurred for the asset, provided the asset is
determined 10 be economically viable, Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use are complete.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Investiments

Investments in subsidiavies are wnlied a2 st lass provision for impairment, The carrying value of fixed asset investments is reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in citcumstances indicate the camrying value may not be recoverable.

Investments in associales and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs.

The carrying amount of the investment in associates and jolar vensures is increased or decreased to recognise the Group's share of the prefit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate and joint venture, adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accaunting policies of the Group,

Unrealised gaing and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joinl ventures are eliminated lo the extent of the Group’s inferest in those
entitics. Wlhere unrcalised losses arc elimfnated, the underlying asset is also tested for impaimieat,

Propcrty, plant and eqguipment

Praperty, plant and equipment are staled al historical cosl less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost comprises all amounis directly
attributable to making assets capable of operating as intended, including development costs and borrowing costs where relevant.

Depreciation is provided on all categories of property, plant and equipment with the exception of freshold land and assets under construction (see below),
Depreciation is based on cost less estimated residual velze and is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated uscful life of the assct as follows:

- Leasehold improvements - shorter of lease fife or expected uscful life (5-50 ycars)

- Clinical equipment — 3 to L5 years

-« Furniture, fitings and office equipment, (including commissioning costs)— 3 1o L0 years

Right-of-use assels are depreciated over ihe shorter period of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset. 1f g lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the righi-of-usc asset reflects that the Group expects io exercise a purchase aption, the refated right-ofuse asset is depreciated over
the useful life of the underlying asset.

Residual values and uscful fives are reviewed at fhe end of each reporting period, The expected useful lives of the assels 1o the business are reassessed
periodically in the light of experience. The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when gvents ar changes of
citcumstances indicatc the carrying value may not be recoverable. An iem of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefils are expected fo arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal o retirament of an asset is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Assets under construetion

Development costs whick are directly attributable to the development of property are capitalised s part of the cost of the praperty. The commencement of
capitalisation begins when development costs for the praperty are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset ready for use are in
progress. Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the assel for use are complete.

Commissioning costs comprisc staff, property, consultency and operational costs directly related to the commissioning of new build hospitals. Such costs are
capitalised, provided the asset is determined to be economieally viable, up to the point that the commissioning is completc and the hospital is fully open far
Dbusiness, subsequent Lo which frther such expenditure is charged to the incame statement. Once commissioned, the asset is reclassificd from ‘Assets under
construction’ 1o the relevant property, plant and equipment category and depreciated on a straight fine basis in accerdance with the eslimated useful lives as
outlined i the previous property, plant and equipment significant accounting policy.

Tmpalrment of goodwill, other intang{ble assets and property plant and equiptment

For impairment wsting purposes, assets are grouped ai the Jowest levels for which there are largerly independent ¢ash inflows (cash-generaling unils). As a result,
some assels are tested individually for impairment and some aze tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill arising from a business combination is aliocated to
cash-geperating units ar groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and represent the lowest Jevel witltin
the Group at which management moaitors goodwill.

Cash-gencrating units to which goodwill or intangible asseis with an indefinite useful life or not yet available for use have been allocated are tested for
impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted (o their
present value using & pre-tax discount raie that refleets current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
gstimates of future cash flows have ot been adjusted.

If the recaverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating unir} is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverahle amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately io the intome statement.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce the first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the ¢cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment
loss is charged pro rata to the ather assets in the cash-generaling unit.

With the exeeption of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amaunt of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised cstimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 1ol exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset {or cash-generating wnit) in prior years. A reversat of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Accounting policies {continued)
Leases

The Greup assesses whether a contract is or contains a Jease, nt inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liability with réspect to all lease arrangements 1n which it is the lessec, except tor shori-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and
leases of low vatuc assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furriture and telephones). For these leascs, the Group recagnises the
lease payments ag pn aperafing expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systermatic basis is more represcntative of the time
pattern iy which ¢conomic benefils from e leased assels are consumed.

The lease liability is injtially measvred at the present value of the lease payments that are net paid at ihe commencement date, discounted by using the rate
implicit in the lease, If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses ils incremental borrowing rate.

T.ease payments included in the measurement of the lease Hability comprise:

» Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

« Variable lease payments that depend on an index o rake, initially measurcd using the index or rate at the commencement date;
+ The amount expected fo be payable by the lessee under residual value guaraniees;

+ The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain 1o exercise the options; and

+ Paymenls of penaltics for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to lerminate the lease.

The lcase liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position,

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect inlerest o (he lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by
reducing the carrying amount ta reflect the lease payments made.

Remeasurement of leascs
The Conpainy remeasures the lease lability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assel) whenever:

« The lease term has changed or there is 2 significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of 4 purchase option, in
which case the lease liability is measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. The revised discount sate is the interest rate
implicit in the lease for the remainder of lease term or if that cannot be determined then the incremental borrowing rate at date of reassessment.

* The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected paymen! under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
lighility is remeastited by discounting the revised leasc paymients using an unchanged discount rale (unless the lease payments change is due to a charge in 2
floaling interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used), When lease payments are revised due to changes in an index or rate used to determine the
payments the Group shall remeasure the lease Liabitity only when there is a change in the cash flows.

+ A leasc contract i medified and the lease modification is not accowtted for as a separate lease, in which casc the lease hability is remeasured based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease paymenss using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
madification.

The riglt-of-use asscts comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments nade at or before the commencement day, less any
lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on whicly It is located or restore the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under 1AS 37. To the extent that the cosis refate 1o a right-
of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce mventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset or the cost of e right-of-usc asset reflects that the Graup expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the usefirl
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group applies TAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identificd impsirment loss in kine with the 'Tmpairment of
goodwill, other intangible assets and property plant and equipment',

Inventories

Inventorics, primarify medical consumables, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price less {rade discounts, and is
determined on a fitst-in, first-out basis, Net realisable value means estimated sclling price, less all costs ineurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Obsolete
and slow moving stock s provided for in the income statermnent.

Where title never transfers to the Group, consignment stock is held off balange sheet.

Financlal Instruments

Recognition and derecogmition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recogmised when the Group becoinies a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial 2ss¢ts are derccognised when the contractual rights to the cash fiows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantiafly all the
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial Liabitity is derecognised when it is extinguished. discharged, cancelled, or expires.
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2.  Accounting policies {continned)
Financial instraments (contined)

Classification and initial measuzement of financial gssets

The Group's financial assets include trade and other receivables.

Except for those trade receivables that do nat contain = significant financing compoenent and are measured at the transaction price in accordance wilh TFRS 15, all
financiol aszets are initiolly measurad at fojr value adjusted for transootion costs (whero applicable).

Financiul assets, other than those designated and effective as Ledging instruments, are classified into one of the following categories:
~amarltised cost

*fair value through profit ar loss (FVTPL), or

“faizr value through other comprehensive income (FVOCL).

I the periods presented the Group does nat have any financizl asscts calegorised as FVTPL or FVOCT,

“The classification is determined by both:

sthe entity’s business nodei for managing the financial asset, and
«the contractuel cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Al reveriue and expeases relating to flnancial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, financs income or other financial
items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within administeative expensss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financin} assets at anortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

« ey are held within a business maode! whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows, and
- the contraciual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal und interest on the principal amount ouistanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cosl using the effictive interest methad. Discounting is omitted where the effect of disccunting is
immaterial.

Inipatrment of financial assels

‘The Group and Company applies the IFRS 9 gimplificd approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all rade
receivables and contract assets. Each entity uses a formula to calculate the expected credit loss. Trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
characleristics {e.g., payer type). Different credit risk ratings have been applied to cach grouping, including to reflect thal credit risk increases as the aging of debt
increases.

A different percentage allowance is used for each purchaser type 1o reflect the varying eredit tisk. This percentage allowance reflects the likelihood of detault,
and the anticipated shortfall of cash if default ocemrs,

Classitication and measurement of financial liabilities

e Group's financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables,
Financial iabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs,
Subsequently, finarncial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges and, ifapplicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that arc reported in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finnnce

inceme

Borrowings are classified as current labiltites unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 mronths after the
reporting period,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, overnight deposits other short-tenn highly liquid investments with ariginal
maturifies of three monthis or less.

5 -
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Notcs to the financial statcments
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Retivement benefit plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit seliemes are charged ns an expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are dealt with as payienss to dehned contribution schemes where the Company’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a
defined cantribution retirensent henefit scheme,

The Group sponsors a funded defined benefit pensicn plan for qualifying UK employees, Genéral Henlthcare Group Limited Pension and Life Assurance Plan,
The Plan is administered by GHQ (DB) Pension Trustees Limited, an independent trustee. The Trustee is required by law to act in the interect of all relevaut
beneficiarics and is responsible for the investment policy for the assets and the day-to-day administration of the benefits,

The Group's defined benelit plan closed to future accruals and members with effect from 31 August 2008. Under the Plan, employees are entitled to anneal
pensions on retirement at age 65 for each year of service. The level of benefils accrued by members is based on the length of their Pensionable Service and their
Pensinnable Salarics at the earlier of the date on which they feft the Plan or the date at which the Plan closed to the futre accrual of benefits.

A full actuarial valuation was carricd out as at 30 Seplember 2021. The preseat value of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost were
measiired using the projected unir credit method. The projectzd unit eredit methed is an accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities imake

allowanee for projected earnings.
During 2019 the Trustees used the scheme assets to procure a bulk annuity to cover the current and future pension liabilities buy in.

The Group's net obligation io respect of defined bencfit pians is calculated by estimating 1he amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in the ¢urrent
and prior pedods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The caleulation of year end defined bencfit obligations is performed anmually by a qualified actuary by using the projected unit credit method in the September
actuarial valuation, rolled forwarded to the year-cnd date with allowance made for changes in market conditions. When the calculation results in the fair value of
the plan assets being greater than the present value of the defincd bencefit obligation, a surplus is crealed. The recoguised asset is limiited te the present valge of
economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in futurc conlributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of
economic benefits, consideration is given 10 any applicable minimum funding requirenients. The Group does not expect to derive cconomic benefit from such
surpluses and as 2 result gains from 2 surplus position are not recognised in other comprehensive income,

Remeasurements of the net defined bencfit kiability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the refurn on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the
asset ¢eiling (if any, excluding interest), are recopnised immediately in OCI. The Group determines the net interest expense (incame) on the net defined benefit
liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit abligation al the beginning of the annual period to the then net
defined bencfit liability (assct), taking into account any chaages in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as 2 result of contributions and benefit
payments, Net interest expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year, ag adjusted for items which are taxable ar
deductible in other accounting periods and itenss not taxed or disallowed. The charge is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the end af the reporting period.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities,
and their camying amounts it the consolidated financial statements, [n principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recogiised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such asscts and liabilities sre not recognised if the temporary difference is due to the witial recogmition of goodwill or from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in 4 lransaction (ather than a business combinalion) which at the time of the transaction does not affect either Laxable or accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint veatures and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reverszl of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary differsrce will not reverse in the

foresecable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is o legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or differem Laxable entities where

there is an intemtion to settle the balances on a net basis,

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the peried wheén (ke asset is realised or the liability is settled using rates enacted, or
substantively enacted, at the ¢nd of the reporting poriod. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consclidated income statement, except to the extent that it
relates to itemns recogmised in other comprehensive income or ditectly in equity. In this case, the tax is #lso recognised in other coinprehensive income or direcily

in cquity, respectively.

The carrying amount of deferred 1ax assels is reviewed al each balance sheet date and reduced ta the exient that it is 1o langer probable that sufficient 1axable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Notcs to the financial statements
tor the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2. Accountlng palicies (continued)
Provisions for othier liabllities and charges

Provisians are recognised when the Group or Company has a present obligation in respect of a past event, when it is probable that an outflaw of resources will be
required o setile the obligation and it can be reliably estimated, Provisions are discounted where the time value of money is considered to be material, using an
appropriate rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the visks specific to the obligation. The upwinding of the discount is

recogiised as a finance cost.

Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Comipany's shareholders is recagnised as a liability in the Group's and the Company’s financial staicments in the period in which the
dividends are approved by Uxe Company's sharcholders.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Procceds reccived, net of any directiy attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital (nominal vaiue) and
share premium (for any proceeds in excess of nominal value).

Shared based payments

The long-term stock plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Health Holding Limited allows for awards to he made in the form of opticas,
restricted stock, restricted stock uaits, stock appreciation rights and any other stock-based awards. The Circle grants under this plan solely relate to RSUs and
PSUs over 30001 par value common stock in Centene Inc. and are accounted for s equity-settled share-based scheme.

The grant date fair value of share-hased payments awards granted to emptayees is recognised as an employee expense, with o corresponding increase in equity,
over the peried in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The fair value of the awards granted is ¢stimated on the date of grani as
the share price at that date, The amount recogmised as an expense is adjusted to refiect the actual number of awards for which the related service and non-market
vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is hased an the number of awards that do meet the retated
service and non-market performunce conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the
share-based payment is measured to refleet such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between cxpected and actual outeores,

3. Cuitical judgements zand accounting estimates

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policics, the Dircetors make judgements and estimates concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results, The judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements, and could have a material impact on the financial statements in the following year, inchude:

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policics
i, Tax

The recogniticn of deferred tax asscts is dependent vpon management judgement of the fevel of future taxable profits that will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utiliscd, Such a judgement is based on cash flow forecasts that have been generated, along with their expectations of
future market performance. In the event that actual taxable profits are different, such differences may impact the carrying value of such deferred tax assets in
future years. Based on the estimates used in determining the deferred tax asset position there remains £102.12 million unrecogmised,

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the cartying amounts of
nssets and ligbilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

i lmpairment of assets

Property, plant and equjpment, Right of Use assets, and other intangible assets are considered for impairment if there is any reason to believe that impairment
may e necessary, based on the judgement of management. All hospital fixed assets are allocated into cash-penerating units (CGUs), being each individual
hospital operation, and tested for impairment, if any indicators of impairment exist.

At 31 December 2022, Property, plant and equipment, Right of Use, and other intangible assets were consideted for impairment. The Group assessed whether
indicators of impairment existed for each CGU and where indicators existed the Group assessed the recaverable values of ¢ach CGU using forccasts of the
profitability and the anficipated maintenance capitat expenditure for each hospital, Refer to note 13 tor sensitivities performed,
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Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

Continuing operations
Provision af healihepena gayvices by custonier
Private insured patients
NHS patients
Self-pay paticnts
Othier palients
Other revenue

Revenue split by patient type:

Inpatient
Qutpatient
Day case
Qther revenue

Exceptional administrative expenses

Inapairment losses
Acquisition and ntegration costs
Other exceptional items

2022 2021

£'000 £000

461,198 415,483

325,957 364,625

257,734 228,740

17,0647 8,416

29,771 34,377

1,091,724 1,051,642

2022 2021

24000 £000

409,823 327,966

312,616 277,092

301,896 249,439

67,389 197,145

1,001,724 1,051,642

Income statement Tax impact Income statement Tax impact
2022 2022 - 2024 2021
£7000 £2000 £000 £1000
37,901 - 7,391 -
594 ) 4,101 -
680 37 117 (22)
39,175 (3% 11,609 {22)

In both the current and prior year, the exceptianal costs recagnised were in relation to impairment charges following the anoual impairnient review of the assets
carried ot at the year end. See notes 11 and 13. Acqusition and ittegration costs relate to the intergralion of BMI Healthcare following the acquistion by the

Group. Expenses cantinue to be incurred as a result of the

closure costs and debt refinancing costs.

Cask fTow fimpact of exceptionals

ts relating to the Birmingham market. Other exceptional items include site

The cash flow impact for exceplional acquisition casts was an outflow of £547,000 (2021: £2,883,000). The cash flow impact of other exceplional items was an

outflow of £680,00C (2021: £117,000).
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6.

Operating prafit for the year

Operating profil is stated after charging/(crediting):

Amartisation of intangthle nssets (mate 11
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 13)
Cosi of stock recognised as expense

Auditor's remuneration (see below)

Movement in provision for bad debts (note 18}
Operating lease charges

Exceptional operating items (note 53

Remuneration payats(¢ o the company’s auditor :

Fees payable to Company's auditor for the parent Company and
consolidated financiat statements

Fees payable to the Company's auditer for other services

—~ The andit of Company’s subsidiaries
- Advisory services

Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees during the year (including executive directors) was:

Management and administrative
Clinical and hospital support

Their aggregate remuneralion comprised:

Wages and salaries
Social securily cosis
Dcfined contribution pension costs (sce note 27)

Key managemenl personnel compensation

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

Long-term benefits

Termination benefits

Parent company long term stack plan charges

2022 2021
£1000 £'000
8,672 11,805
96,520 93,651
203,846 191,976
675 733
§05 (633)
487 4
39,175 11,605
2022 g
£'000 £000
193 195
479 535
3 3
§78 733
2022 2021
Number Number
554 599
8,306 7,875
8,860 8,474
2022 2421
£000 £'000
361,801 327,655
31,134 26179
10,869 10,037
463,804 363,871
2022 2021
£'000 £000
5,037 6,519
22 56
1,486 -
15,545 6,575

During the year, management has reassessed the application of 1AS24 in respect of Key Management Personael. This previously included the Directors of the
company only. Following the acquisition of the BMI Heallhcare group in 2020 and the subsequent integration of the businesses and establishment of the new
povernance structure in 2021, management now assess Key Management Personnel to include the board of directors and a number of other key personnel
responsible and involved in key ecammittees taking decisions relating to directing the operations of the Group, The able above reflects the compensation,

ineluding long tevm incentive awards granted under Centene stack plans, for this group for both the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
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Staff costs (continned)

Divectors’ remuneration

2022 2021

£:000 £'000
Agpiegile emoluments 2,201 2,671
Company contributians to money purchase pension scheme 3 &
2!294 2,677

Directors’ emaoliuments relaie to the company's Directors, who ars remunerated by Circle Healtls Holdings Limited, CHG Management Services Limited or Circle
Health Group Limited,

Posi-emplayment benefits are aceruing for one director (2021: one director) under a defined contribution scheme.

The emoluments disclosed above include the following amounts paid to the highest paid Director:

2022 2021

2040 £000
Aggregate emoluments 1,121 [,114
Campany contributions to money purchase pension scheme 3 6
0,124 £,120

The Directors of the company are alsa directovs or officers of a number of other companies within the ultimate parent group and are remunerated in respeet of
services provided to the Circle Health Holdings Group. The Direciors do not consider the time spent on individual company matters fo be material and therefore
have nat sought lo separate out their costs in respect of services to sach individual company in the Cirele Group. The amounts disclosed above arc the Divectors’

total emoluments a5 per their emplayment contracts.

Finance jucome
2021 2021
£:000 £000
Interest income 336 54
336 54
Finance costs
2022 2021
£000 £2000
Interest expense under IFRS16 on lease liabilities* 120,714 119,366
ITnterest on bank overdrafis and loans 17,074 18,000
137,788 137,376

*£119.3 million (2021; £118.5 million) relates lo the interest expense incurred on IFRS 16 right of use properties and £1.4 million (20213 £0.9 million) relates to
the interest expense incurred on TFRS 14 right of use equipment assets held oo finance leases.

Interest on bank overdrafs and loans includes £6.6m of finance costs writien off as part of the Group's debt refinancing (note 19).
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10.  Tax an loss on ordinary activities:
The tax charge/{eredit) is based on the loss for the year and comprises:
Corporation ingome lax:
Current tax at 19%
Adjustment in regpect of prior years
Deferred tax:

-—-Current-year charge/(credil)
Adjustment in respeet of prior years

Tatal tax on lass on ordinary activitles
Tax charge in other comprehensive income

Tax chargel{credit) recognised in other comprenhensive income
Effects of change in rate of tax

Taotal tax In other comprehensive income

Loss before tax:
Total operations

Less: profit of joinl ventures and associates

Group loss on ordinary aclivitics on cantinuing operations before tax

Tax &t the UK corporation tax rate of 19%
Effects of:

Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Income that is not taxable

Disposal of assets

Movement in deferred tax not recognised

Deferred tax recognised in equity

Effects of change in rate of tax

Adjustment to tax cliargeicredit] in respect of previous periods

Tax charge/(credit) and effective tax rate for the year on continuing operations

2022 2021
£000 £000
194 (821)
(603) 202
(309) (619)
(10,819) 1,749
4,243 174
(6,576) 1.893
(6,985) 1,274
(112) -
{33) -
(145) -
(87,350) {51,402)
(1,651) ¢4,105)
(89.041) (55,507)
(16,918) (10,546)
5,690 1,069
(1,608) (1,827)
(595) (618)
2,049 10,604
145 -
612 2,216
3,640 376
(6,985) 1,274

The tax rate for the cumrent year and prior year is {9.0%. The Finance Act 2021 has increased the rate of carperation tax to 25.0% from ) April 2023, As this

chianpe was substantively enacted at the balance sheet date its effect hag been included i these financial statements,
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1

Intaugible assets

The amortisation charge for the year is included within the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income within administrative expenses before exceptional

items.

Contracts and

Stakeholder Computer

Cost Brand relationships software Total

£:000 £°000 £000 £'000
As at 31 Decersher 2020 20,600 40,600 10,369 71,569
Additions - - 1,022 1,022
Transfers from langible fixed assels - - 544 544
As at 31 Deceraber 2021 20,600 49,600 11,935 73,135
Additions - - 357 857
Disposals - - {68) {68)
Transfers from tanpible fixed assers - - 41 41
As at 31 December 2022 20,600 40,600 12,765 73,965
Accamulated amortisation and impairment
As at 3 December 2020 4,965 5,492 4,460 14,917
Amortisation charpe for the period 2,040 4,511 5254 11,805
As at 31 December 2021 7,005 16,003 9,714 26,722
Amortisalion charge for the period 2,040 4,537 2,096 8,672
Dispasal - - (49) (49)
Trnpairment - - 2 2
As nt 31 December 2022 9,045 14,540 11,763 35,348
Net book amount
At 31 December 2021 13,595 30,567 2,221 46413
At 31 December 2022 11,555 26,060 1,002 38,617

Tntangible assets that are subject to amortisation are cansidered for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount reay
not be recoverable,

Caonlracts and Stakeholder relationships
Circle holds several contracts with a number of ICHs which allow the Company ta provide specific clinical services. The contracts attract value given the

exclusivity they provide Cirele with regard to service provision.

The valve of these eontracts are amortised over nine years from April 2017, the date that they were acquired, which represems the estimated remaining economic

useful }ife of the contracts,

On the acquisition of BMT Healthcare a further £37 million was recogaised under this category, which represents relationships with practising medical
professionals held by BMI Healtheare as at the 8 January 2020. This assct is being amortised over nine years,

Brand
Circle has a well-known and respected brand in the areas where it operates hospitals. It is also known across the UK in the healthcare industry among consultanis

and suppliers.

The value of the brand is amortised aver 15 years from April 2017, which represents the estimaled remaining ecanomic usefy! life of the brand, The value of the
Circle brand is appottioned across the different cash generating unils (CGUs) of the Group.

On the acquisition of BMI Healthcaze a further £5 million was recognised under this calegory, which represents accounting value attributed to the BMI
Healthcare brand, This is being amortised aver five years.

Computer software
Computer software represents costs incurred in relatian 1o the Group's information lechnology systems and is being amartised over periods no more than 3 years,
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12,

Goodwill
£000
Net Book Amount as at 3] December 2020 147,478
Wel Bupk Amouni as w31 Decernber 2621 147,478
147,478

Net Book Amaunt as at 31 December 2022

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing annually, or more frequently where there are indications that the goodwill may be impaired. The recoverable amounts
of all cash generating units {CGUs} are dotermined based on value in use calculations, using discounted pre-tax casl flow prajections based oa management
approved financial forecasts for the period of the contract. ‘The key assumptions for these forecasts are hose relating to revenue growth and decline, based on
past experience and expectations of future changes in relevant CGUs, The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial plans
approved by management for the period of the contract,

The time period over which management has projected cash flows varies based on cach CGU, based on the financial plans approved by management. The
financial plans reflect past experience and incorporate assumptions in temis of volumes, the mix of patient ireatments and tariff changes. This lakes into
consideration contract tengths. Any projections for future years beyond the period in financial plans approved by management are extrapolated at a growth rate of
2% based on past gxpericnce and future expectations. The discount rate used is 8.35% {2021: 8.38%), which is the estimated weighted sverage cost of capital for
the Group. All CGUs are funded using the Group's senior facilities and therefore the Group discount rate has been applied to 2fl CGUs in determining the vajue

in use for impairment.

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the carrying value of each of the CGUs, There are Bo reasonably possible changes in the key assumptians that
could cause the carrying value of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amounts.

Based on the resull of the value in use calculations undettaken, the Directors conclude that the recoverable amount in the integrated care and private hospitals
CGUs exceed thair carrying value,

Allocation of Goodwill to each CGU

2022 0

£000 £000
Private hospitals (including BM! Healtlicare husiness acquisition) 146,688 146,688
Integrated care . 790 790
147,478 147478

Goodwill has been allocated to each CGU hased on an implied purchase price for each CGU during the acquisition by Circle Health Holdings Limited, and the
et assets held by cach CGU at that time, A discounted cash flow approach was used to assist in allocating the purchase price to those CGUs,
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13, Froperty, plant and equipment

Cost

At Janvary 2021
Additions

Biapsala

Transfers

Transfers to intanjibls asscis

At 31 Decemther 202 ang | Japuary 1621

Additions
Disgosals
Tramsfers
Transfers (0 intanmible assets

At 31 Precemiber 2021

A and 1

At 1 January 2024
Dapreciation charpe for the year
Dispasals

Transtees

Trupairmrent {characifreversal

AL 3] Decenher 2021 and | January 2013

Depresiation chasge for the year
Disposals

Transfcss

Eripatrmicot (charzelrevesal

Al 31 December 2027

Net book amount
At3L Decermbir 2021

At M December 2021

Righi-of-yse assets

Furnlture, Furnfluce,

Buildiags and fttings and fitlings and

Asiels under leasehald Cliuleal office Clinteal office
Bulidings equipntent equipment Tatal
£'080 E'Nn0 £oon £'non £'000 £'000 400 L'000
35,100 103,367 58,350 a1 1663032 16392 1,823 1391045
25,813 19,430 15,632 5,384 45,128 19,762 - 131,169
{15 0 2n [EH) 64,006} - {2,285 {65,412)
{2,310 5,355 1,673) {2,668) - (1,372) 2918 -
(544 B - - - - - {544}
57,981 135,623 1517 11,355 1,644,101 34,781 1,166 1L937,258
22,843 17.881 8,795 9,955 42,435 16,312 - 128,212
[AXEIS] (6,655) {5,102} {243} (6,870} (3 "7y {21,295}

{14,040 16,266 1614 155 - - . -

) - - - - - - A1)
% 151,105 972,09 217 1,679,780 55,081 1094 2,063,133

Furmiivre, Furnlture,

Huffdfngy and fetings and fittings and

Asstl under leasthald Citolcal office Chinical affice
consiruealon quip I 2 quip quip: Total
[ L1 £'000 £1000 £000 £000 £1000 1'008 £'o00
- {1.568) 6,317 {8382} {57,826) 16,698) 49 (121362
- {10.200) {15,508} (L5413 {60,553} GaIn [ZEk 1 {93,651

- - 16 1 4,776 - 1,028 82
- - (2631 18] - 245 {6191 -
2,612) 435 677 a1 (7250 1,289 . (2390
(3,632) {17,838) {22,415) 211} {160,219) (3,061) {508) (22,582)
- (11,346} {15,006} (d.021) (58,822) (&M} {122) {96,520}
266 s10t 289 1555 12 - 3,223
- 314 (299) 585 . - - -
(334} {L,85T) (6,749) [37] {15976) (2426} (35) {17,899)
3,216 430.659 1339591 12,633 §243.162) {18,220} 1923] 248,773

55,349 115,787 St112 2643 1483305 35,19 L,760 1,734,676
58, !96 130, iié 47,770 9,091 L. 43@‘[! 33461 3,111 Lt 255

The cashflow forecasts used in the prior year impairment reviews were reviewed against actual performance, Where indicators of impairment exist, impairment fests were perfarmed
using the recoverable amaunts of the assets' cash-generating units. Each hospital is deeined to be its own CGU. The discount rate used in measuring vatue in use was 8,35% per
annum (pre-lax) (2021: 8.38%). The Cempany also estimated ihe faic volue less costs of disposal of these asscts, which is based on the reeent market prices of assets with similar age
and absolescence, The fair vaiue less costs of disposal is less than the value in use and hence the recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the basis of their

value in use.

CGUs thal recorded an impainment charge was as a result of specific local markel conditions impacting volume of future trading. The impairment charge for the year was £37.9
miliion {20211 £11.3 million) and the impairment reversal was £nil (2021: £3.2 million), with the net impairment charge of £37.9 million (2021: £7.4 miilion} recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Compreliensive Income.

The Group has conducied a sensitivity analysis on the tangible and inlangible asscts impairment test of the Clills witere (here are indicators of impairment and the group ol units

carrying value, as follows:

« If the pre-tax WACC rale was inoreased/deereased by 1.0 percentage point, the overall irapairment would (increase)/decrease by (£7.8) million/€9.0 million.
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14, Investments

Detailg of the investnents in which Cirele Health Holdings Limited halds 20.00% ar more of the nominal value of any ¢lass of share capital.

Proporxtion of

MNature of business

Company name varing righfs  Share Registered ofGce
held class
Subsldlary nndertakings
Circle Internaticnal ple 100% Holding
CHG Management Services Limited 100% Holding and management
Nations Healthcare Limited [00% Holding
Circle Nottingham Limited 100% Provision of icaltheare services
Circle Bospital (Reading) Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle Birmingham Limited 100% Provision of licalihcare services
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle ITealth [ Cimited* 100% Holding
Circte Healtk 2 Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 3 Limited 100% Hoiding
Circle Health 4 Limited 100% folding
GHG Healtheare Holdings Limited 100% Holding
General Healtheare Group Limited 1006% Lst Floot 30 Holding
Bishopswood SPV Limited 100% c S Provision of heaithcare services
Circle Health Group Limited 100% Ordinary n];n;n:mlrcct, Provision of healtheare services
ndon,
Cirele Decontamination Limited 100% shares England, EC4M Provision of decontamination services
GXH
BMI Syou Clinie Limited 50% Provision of healtheare services
General Healthcare Haoldings (2) Limited 100% Investment holding
General Healthicare Hotdings (3} Limited 100% Investment holding
GHG (DB) Pension Trustees Limited 100% Pension Trustee
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited 100% Tnvestment holding
GHG Leasing Limited 100% Provision of healtheare services
North West Cancer Clivic Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Runnymede SPV Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
GHG Mount Alvernia Hospital Limited 100% Tnvestment helding
Generalo de Sante International Limited 100% Tnvestment helding
Circle Clinical Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
TKH Helding Lid 100% Holding
Circle Health MyWay Limited 100% Health plan subseription services
. . . Ordinary 12 Castle Street, .
o 5
Circle Holdings {OS) Limited 100% chares St. Helier, Jersey, Holding
Assceiate undertakings and {oint venturcs
BMI Tmaging Clinic Limited 50% Provision of healthcare services
BMI Southend Private Hospital Limited 50% It Floor 30 Provision aFhealthcare services
Meriden Hospital Advanced Imaging Centre Limited 50% Ordingry Cannon Street, Provision of healthcare services
d Lo . .
Three Shires Hospital LLP 50% shaces En ]ﬂ“':f‘;;n(’: AM Provision of heallthcare services
Mount Alvernia PET CT Limiled 41% £ 6XH Provision of healtheare services
The Pavilion Clinic Limited 50% Provision of healthicare services
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% Managy services
. . Ordinary Rm 905-906, 8/F Houston Ctr, 63 .
0,
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% shares Mody Road, TST, KLN, Hang Kong Management services
. . ) Rm1 145, 1 L/F, Carltou Bldg, No.21
Shanghai Circle Harmony Huspital Management 50% 3:::::[’}' Huanghe Road, Huangpu District, Management services

Limited

Shanghai, China

*Dircetly held by Circle Health Holdings Limited. All other entities listed are held indirectly through investments in other group companies.

See note 15 for changes in the Group's shareholding percentage in North West Cancer Clinic Limited that eccurred during the year,

Subsequent ta the year end the directors of TKH Limited entered into a voluntary stike off, with the company being struck off on 6 June 2023,
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14.

Investments {continued)

Subsidiary audit exemption
The following UK subsidiary undertakings ure exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 {the Act) relating ta the audit of individunl accaunts by virtuc

of section 47%A of the Act.

Company name Company number

CHG Managentent Services Litnited Q5042771
Nations Healthcare Limited 4523677
Circle Nottingham Limited 05153608
Circle Hospital (Reading) Limited 06995585
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 10527747
Cirele Health | Limited 12108495
Cir¢le Health 2 Limited 12108525
Circle Health 3 Limited 12108431
Circle Health 4 Limited 12258549
General Healtheare Group Limited 04026079
GHG Healthcare Holdings Lirited 05740193
Bishopswood 8PV Limited 04252401

96003075

Circle Decontamination Limited
General Healtheare Holdings {2) Limited 04026992
General Healtheare Holdings (3) Limited 04062897

GHG TIntermediate Hotdings Limited 04210585
GHG Leasing Limiled 01551992
North West Cancer Clinic Limited 05706220
Rurnymede SPV Limited 04252392
Circle Health Myway Limited 14186896

Circle Health Holdings Limited wilt guarantee gll quistanding lisbilitics that these subsidiaries are subiect {o as at the finaneial year end 31 December 2022 in accordance
with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 as amended by the Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit Exemptions and Changes of
Acconnting Framewaork) Regulations 2012.

Shares In assockates and joint ventures 2022 2021

£'000 £400
Carying amwunt of Individually immaterial associates 657 276
Canying amount of fudividually imematerial joint ventures 3,642 4,866
Total carrylng amount for equity accouuted juvestees 4,299 3,142

The Group accounts for alt its investmenls in associates and joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements using the equity method, as set oul in note 3.

Individually itnmaterial foint veotures

2012 2011
£000 £'900
Summary of financlal Information
Profit from contiuing operatiens and total prehensive income 3,902 1,535
There was no other camprehensive incore or profit or loss from discontinued operations (2021: £nil) for joint ventures held by the Group.
Individnally immaterial associates
2022 2021
Summary of financial information £'000 £'000
2,162 3,299

Profit from conlinuing operations and iotal comprehensive income

There was 1o other comprehensive inconte or profit or loss from discontinued operations (2021: £nil) for associates held by the Group.
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15. Non-centrolling interests

16.

At 31 December 2021, the Group bad 2 subsidiary undeitakings with a non-controlling interest. These were BMI Syon Clinic Limited and Nocth West Cancer Clinic
Limited. On 30 September 2022, (he Group purchased the remaining 1 0% interest in North West Cancer Clinic Limited, increasing its ownership from 90% (o 100%.
Therefore at 31 December 2022, the Group had ene subsidiary undertaking with a non-cantroiling interest. A summary of financial information for individuatly
immntariaf pnan conteoifing, intararts ara given helan

2022 2021
£:000 £°000
Total assets & ddd 4,536
Total liabilitics (3,298) {1,052)
Net assets 5,146 2,483
Profit for the peried 601 886
Net cash outflow (6) 6)
2022 2021
£000 £4000
Acquistition of NCI
Carrying amount of MCL acquired 459 -
Consideration paid to NCL (140) -
Ax increase in equity atributable to gwniers of the compaty 319 -
Inventories
2022 2023
£'000 £:000
Consumables . 17,746 12.276
There is no significant difterence betwecn the replacement cost of et bles and their carying amount. At 3] December 2022, an amount of £2.9 million (2024: £3.2

million} has been provided against the gross cost of inventories.
Leases (Graup as a lessee)

The Group has lease conteacts for hospitals, furniture, fittings and office equipment, and clinical equipment. The amounts reeognised in the financial statements in
relation to these ae as follows:

Amgunts recognised in the statertient of financial position 2022 2021
£'000 £000
Riglt-of-use assets
Buildings 1,436,618 1,483,305
Furnitute, fittings and office equipment 1,171 1,760
Clinical equipment 32,861 25,719
1,470,650 1,510,784
Lease liabilities
Currant (14,159) {8,065)
Non-current (1,703,298) (1.666,021)
{1,117,457) (1.674,086)

Awmotuits recognised in the statement of compreliensive itcome

1022 2021
£'609 £000
Depreciation of right-af-use assets

Buildings 53,822 60,559
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 382 423
Clinical equipment 6,743 3917
GE94T_ G4899

2022 2021

Amounis recognised in profit and Loss £'000 £:000
Depreciation expense on righi-of-use assels 65,947 64,899
Interest cxpense on leass Habilities 120,714 119,366
Txpense relating to shoit-term and low value leases 487 4

The total cash outflow for leaess during the period amount to £131 million (2021: £[26 willion).

The Group leases several assels including buildings, plant and clinical equipment. The average lease lenm is 25 years (2021: 26 years).

The Group has options to extend lease teym, as well as purchase certain equipment for a nominal anwount at the end of the lease term. The Group’s obligations are secured by
the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such leascs.
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18. Trade and othér receivables

Current Current
2022 2021
£900 £000
Trade receivabies 85,426 67,219
Less: provisian for impairment {4,656) {3,751)
Nel trade rgceivables 80,770 63,468
Prepaymients and accrued income 1,369 2,181
Other receivables 9,819 9,510
Iax recewvable 1215 553
93,173 75,712
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
2022 2021
£1000 £000
At 1 January 3,751 4,384
Increase/(decrease) in the year 905 (633)
At 3] December 4,656 3,754

The mavement in the allowatce for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year is reflected within administrative expenses in the inconie statement.

At 31 December, the agoing analysis of trade receivables was as follows:

2022 2021

£¢00 £000
Not past dug 60,597 44,171
Past due 0-30 days 9,627 6,762
Past duc 31-60 days 520 2,817
Past due by more than 60 days 10,026 9,718
80,770 63,468

Trade receivables, from contracts with customers, are non-interest beacing and credil terms are generally 30 days. The above receivables ave net impaired because
management believe they are fully recoverable.

As per [FRS 9, the Group follows the simplified approach to calcutating a loss atlawance for trade and other receivables.

Each stte uses a formmula to caloulate the expseted eredit loss ("ECL"). The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimnted using a provision matrix by
reference ta past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors thai are specific 1o the debtors, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debiors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of canditions at the reporting
date, Trade receivables have been grouped based on sharcd characteristics {c.g. payer type). This weighting is used as it reflects the risk of credit risk, as this risk
ingreases when the age increases.

A different percentage allowance is used for each purchaser type to reflect the varying eredil risk. This percentage allowance reflects the likelihood of defaul, and the
anticipated shortfall of cash if default ocows.

The Group has not significantly changed the expected loss rates [or trade receivables fram the price year based on its judgement of the impact of economic condilicns
and the forecast dircction of kravel at the reporting date. There has been no change in the estimatfon fechnigues during the current reporing period.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g when the debior has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, None of the trade receivables that have been written off
are subject to enfarcement activities.

As the Group's historical oredit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the pravision for loss altowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group's different customer segments,

The Directors consider the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair value,
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19, Borrowings

Nen-current Not-gurrent
2012 1
£2000 £:000
L.oans 161,848 219,848
Prepaid finance costs J—— L) (5810
161,014 214,038

Sarured borrovinga ar Measured at amonised cost.
The Group held threc principal bank: loans as al 31 December 2021;
(a)a lpan of £178m which carried inzeest at a rate of 6.5 per cent 2bove SONLA ag a1 3§ December 2021

{b) 2 Toan of £20u1 which carried iaterest at o mlo of 3.25 nor cent abave SONLA 25 gt 31 Dotember 2621 i
1<) o lozy of £20m which cartied interest at 4 rate of 6.5 par cont abave SONEA as at 31 December 2021

On 25 Moy 2022 zhe Group refinaaced its senior berrowing facilities with a new E250 million, thre year, revolving facility. This facility is guaranieed by the Group's ullimate pareat company, Centene.
Corporition andall covenants are muasured at the consolidated Caiene Corporation level. An imitial £180 million of ihis Eilily was dravn o this date aud this, along w|l|| BB miltion of cash on hnui was
sed 10 repay the abava thees toans held at 31 December 2021 in full. During this transaetian, capitalised prepaid fiance costs of £6.6m were waitten off ta the O hid. of f

Income within finance costs,

At the year end, £160m af the new Eacility renitins drawn down. This balancs cauries inlarest at a coto of 1.25 per ¢ent above SONLA o5 at 31 Décember 2022 ard js repayabls in full on 24 May 2025,

The Group atso holds 2 number of unsecured loans with VAMED Management und Service GribH. a former sharchalder of Ciccle Retabilitation Services Lintited, The total balance of these loans cutslanding
as at 31 Decermber 2002 angd 202) was £1 8. Interest a¢erues on the ontstanding Joan balance at a rate of £.5%. Based on deeds of ameudment issued in 2019, the loss and acerued {nterest arc 1ol expected to
b repayable befaro 11 Decamber 2023, No amounts are dog in more then five years,

See niote 29 for an analysis of 1he makurity profile for Ihe above loats,

20. Recanciliation of liabilitles arising from Mndnicing activities

AL Janvary Non-cash At31

1922 mevemeny* Caosh fow Decemlier 2022

£000 £'000 E'00 £2900

1oans and other bomowings (214,018) (6,016} 56,020 (161,034)
Lease labifities £1,674,086) (53,970) 10,599 (LT AST
Totat {1,888,124) (59,9%6) 69,619 (1478497}

*Non-cash movements are campyised of the fallawing:

Lease Labilities
The nst imprict on lease Fabilities af [FRS 16 right of use asset additions of £58.7 milkion, tight of use dsset disposals of £4.5 million and other non cash changes of £0.2 million.

Losus and other borrpwings i
Wrlte offal prepaid finance casts (see noic 19) F6.6m.
Amertisation of prepaid finance costs during the year £0.6n.

1

« Deferred tax

The fellowiog are the major deferred 1ax [abilities and assets recopnised by the group and mavements thereon during the current and prier reporting period.

Charpe Charge Charpe Effects of change

ALl Adfustments £ {eredstbto  Heredil) to i lax rate AL3t

Japuary b inoae far incor aquity ta incorme Deeenther
2022 prorpeciods  statement staterment 2022

000 £000 £000 £000 E000 £000

Accelerled 1ax depreciation {+,104) 3491y 6,775 - 2,140 1,320
Other timing differences {5,308) §459 {5,262y (1435) {1,478) (11.204)
Leases 135 10,073 (1,399) - {450y 15556
Laad and buildings 10,019 - {474} - (136G} 285
Intangihle pssets 10,714 - {988) - {312) 4411
Dxrivatives 22,393 - {4,918y - 90 11,847
Tax lostes (30,203 (3,828) {2.899) - {1,793) (33.813)
Het deferred tax lishility 11,133 4243 (9,176) {145) (1,643) 4412

Dreferred tux balenees bave been remeasured al the rates they are expected 10 reverse, which ia mainly ot 25%.
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1

Deferred tax (coniznued)
Certain deferred tax nssets and liabjlities have been ofiset. The following is Lbe analysis of the deferred tox balances {after offzet) for financial reparting purposes.
21 2021
£009 £600
Deferred (ax Liabijjties 54427 51,337
Delerred tax assely {50.015) {40.204)
4412 11,133

A deferred Iax fiahility of £10.30 million (2021 : £10.92 million) has been recognised in respect of fixed assets that have bren acquired as part of business combinations. Of (s amounl, £19.59
million {2024: £1),21 million) represents the deferred tax lialikity on 1he value of assets that will be recavered through use and £0.29 mittion (202 1: £0.29 million) the deferred tax asset that is

ning nsaels at their net honk vatue

nnticipated In crystailise an an exenival sake of the ren
Deferred tax assels relating to tox losses of £101.33 milliot (2021 E100.1 1 milion), and capital losses of £0.78 million (2021: £0.72 mitlion) have net been recognised as there is insufficient

evidence that the asseis will be rocovered.

The defetred 1ax agsel not recogaised in Lhe financial statements is as follows:
2022 2012 2021 2621
Tasx value Grass value Tax value Gross value
1000 £000 £000 €000
Tax losses carvied farward 101,329 403,318 100,108 400,431
Capital joases 778 1,H0 778 3,110
Deductible lempotary differences — fixed asscts 17 70 157 629
T AT 408,495 - 01033

Deferred tax assels on Inseas have bewn recogniscd in accordanca with 1AS 12 in arder Lo affsel known tax Tiabiities. Whitst profits ace anticipated in fulure periods against which 10 offset
additional bIouEh! forward tax tosses, duo to the histary of loss making and the uncenainties faced by the private health market and the sensitivity of this market ta the Covid pandemic no Geferred

1ax 855l hias been reeognised on the basis of futura profiability. This will cantinue 1o be monitared ol each balance sheet date.

Temporary differcnees arising in connection with interests in associales ond joint ventures are insigalfieant

2, Trade and ather payables
2022 2021
£'008 £:900
Trads payablas 86,119 92.596
Acenials TLI13 211
Social securily and other tavation 204 250
Otlier payables 21,310 6,652
178,756_ 169,708
The average eredit days is 35 days (2021: 46 days)
Comtract liabilities consist of advance payments and bilhngs Lo patients jn excess of scrvices provided and casts incurred and warranties on services performed. Advanice payments and billings are typisally associated
with cur self pay patjents, All coutract liabilities are currmiband are included within other payahles. At 31 December 2022 the Group had eontract Babilities of £3,058 rmillion (2021: £5,625 million}, Reveiue on
contract liabillies is recagnised when performance obligations have been completed.
13, Pravisions
Future
pension
Pravision for commitnient Dilapidations
Vepal claims ] provislon Tolal
£'000 £2000 £'a8d £:000
At 1 Josuary 2022 15,725 154 1,325 17,204
Additional provision ie the year 737 - - 77
Unilisation of provision {2,926) (36) (300) (3,262}
A1 31 Decemper 2022 13,535 118 1,015 14,679
Of which falling due:
- within one year 13,338 LIR 1,025 14,679
- subsequentiy - - - -
d costs of seuk based on t's best estimate ou a case-by-cass basis of the

Az is usual in e sevtar, the Group is subject to » number of legal cltins, Prevision hos been made far the
outcenis of selllements, eithec in or cul of count, and using a projection of the costs of claims incurred but not st reported.

The dofuied benefit pension scheme provision repfasents the Group's estinsted futura contributions ta two defised benefit ension schemes.

Tha dilapidations provision relates (a amounts due in relatlon 1o various buildings that were vacated during prior years.
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24, Share capital and share premium

Anthoclied 20622 2021
£ £
Ordirary shares {Class A Ordinary Shares) of £0.01 eacls 945 945
Ordinacy shares {Chss B Ordipary Shares) of £0.01 eack 100 100
Ordinary shares (Class C Ordinary Shares} of £001 cach 10 10
Preference shares of £0.01 each 56,029 19,881
ST!DBJ 20,906
Adlpteed and Tolly pald vp
Par value Shares Share capital Share premium Totel
Qydinary Class A shaces: toumbics) £ £ £
At L Jomuary 2021 aud 2022 0.01 94,478 95 119,812.448 123,813,333
At 31 Decemiber 2021 and 2022 94478 945 119;812!448 125,813,353
Burvalue shares Share capltal Share premiinn - “Tatal
Ordinary Class B shares: {aumbery L £ £
At | Jonuary 2021 and 2022 0.0l 16,600 100 399,162 299,261
At 3t Decembser 2021 and 2022 10,009 100 399!I61 399,262
Par value Sthares Share capital Share prentlom Total
Ordinary Class C shares: {oumbery i i £
At | January 2021 and 2022 0.8l 1.080 10 - 10
A1 31 December 2021 and 2022 _A i0 - 14
—— =
Par vajue Shares Shizre eapital Share premlurm ‘Total
Preference shares: (number) E4 £ £
At | Janunry 2021 #nd 2022 0.01 1,985,075 19,851 11,264,390 71,284,241
Onher movements 0.0l 3,617,780 36,178 36,178) -
Al 31 December 2021 and 2022 5,601,855 56!019 11!118!1”- il 284,241
Rigits of shares

The rights of shures aez contgined in the Company's Attictes of Association and symmarised below.

Voting

The holders of A and Bshares have the right 10 vole their shares ot any general meeting of the Company. The bolders of the Prefercnce and € sbares kave no entiilement @ vote their sharss at any general mezling of
the Company but have the rght lo vole a class meeting of the Preference and C shares, respectively,

lngome
The holders of Prelerence Shares have the right to dividends declarad by the Company, provided thal 1he amount af any dividend, in aggregale with olher dividendsand distributions ta 1h holders of Preference
Shares. Is nol in excess of the paid up amount of those shares. Subject to any priority distrihution of profits smongst the holders of Preference Shares, the holders of A and B shares shall recetve dividends promala o

the paid up amount af thase shares, The holders of C shares have no rights lo receive dividends.
Capitgl
The rights af holders of differant classas of shares (o capitnl under different scensrivs, including exil avents, are set out in the Company's Aticles. The priorily of capital is; to holders of Prefescuce Shares, up to the

paid up aniount of thase shares: Ie holders of A and B shares, with the distibulion hetween shares contingent an the pature of the ¢vent, the smouut involved aod the retunis to defined groups of halders of A and B
itk 10 holdzrs being conti on Lhe natiire of the event ond if the anwunt assaciated with the exit event involved is #n tXcess of defined relum hurdles ta other

shars; finally, to C shares, with the
sharcholders, in which cosc he € shares have the nght Lo padlicipate in retumns above defined hordles.

During 2021, MH Services Intemational (UK} Limited, which held 40 per cent of the equity of the Company, acquined the remaining 560 per cent. This included acquiring slt shares held by Lirectors of the Company
and other exployess of the Group. All these shases had been acquiced by these individuals at Fair value fram othe sharchalders in prior periods. These arongements fell within the scape of IFRS 2 and were treated
as an cquity-seldled shace based (ransaction. IFRS 2 requircs the Fir valve at geant date of equity-seithed share-4rased paymest Lr iond 1o be d over thie vesting period with a corraspanding inersase in
equily, taking imto account the best available estimate of the oumber of shares expected 1o vest under (he service conditions, A the shores [ully vested in 2021, 4 charge of £213,000 was made to the income

statement wilh a correspending coedit in aquity.
On 25 Januaty 2023 all shares were redesignated as Ordinary shates with their rights set aut in the Arrlcles al Association which e updaied at that date.

Parent Campany Lang Term Stock Plan

Tho lang term stock plan is a stock plan put in place by the ultimale pareat company of Circle Health Holding Limited. This stock plan allows fer awards tabe made in the form of opiions, restricied stock, nestricted
stock unils, stock oppreciation rights and any other stock-based awards. The Circle grants under this plan solely relate 1o Restricted Stock Units {"RSUs"} nnd Pecformance Stock Linita ("PSLs") aver SO.001 par
value commen steck in Centene Inc. and bave ao cash cost to the Circle Group,

The 3ecounting stondards (TFRS2) requite an accounting (non-cash) charge lo be madk in the fingncial statements af the Circle Group for such awards, with the car responding ¢redil taken to equity given there is no
fiahility fer the Circle Group far shares awarded under the Jong temn stock plan,

During the year eaded 31 Decernber 2022 the ullimate parent company granted RSUs and PSUs under these stock plans lo setected diraciars and employces of the Cirete Group.

R&Us granted 1o these directors and employees are subjest to forfeifuse if the employee terminates employment prior ta vesting conditions being satisfied. PSUs are subjet to an additional non-markel performance-
basad candition which nmst be n1et 10 allow vesting to accur. The level of PSU vesting is determined by the level of sharehalder vatue generation achicved.

The weighted average share price at the setilement date for those for RSUs and PSUs settled during the year was 532.97.

The fait valus of each RSU and PSU [s estimated on the date of grem og the share price ot Ihe date of grant. The fair value of RSUs gramted in he year was £18,237,600. The fair value of #SUs granted in the year
was £9,572,000.

The tetal accounting charge is cakulated based o2  number of faciors and assanmptions, and the amount recocded for Ihe year relied o employee shace-based plass was £1 1,281,000,
The table below gives o reconeiliation of movements in the nuraber of RS8Us and PSUs catstanding.

1022 PSUs 2012 RSUs 2021 PSUs 202] RSUs

Numbers* Numbers Numbers Numbers
Qutslanding at | Tanuary - - - -
Granted 156,225 238,485 - -
Settled {1,169 (2,132) - -
Forleited (2,159) 4,730) - .
Cutstanding at 31 December 151,906 281,613 - -

#The PSUs vest between the range of 0% nnd 300% depeadent on the perfurmance echieved against targees scl.
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15. Disposal of subsdlary (prigr peciod)

[n early 3021, the Group entered into n sale agreement 10 sell Circle Hopsital (Bath) Ltd and the trwsaction completed on | June 2025, The divestent was #ffected 35 part of the agreed remedy following tha CAA

arder issued as a result of the Group's acquisition of RMI Healthears in 2020,

The net liabilities of Circle Hospital (Bath) Ltd at the dats of disposal were as follows;

FProperty, plrnt and equipment
Tnvantorizs

Trade and alher receivables
Bank balances and cash
Trade and ather payobles

Met liabililies disposed of
Gain on fispasal

Tatal consideration
Satisficd by:

Cash and cash equivalents

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Consideration reveived in cash and cash equivalents
Less: cash and cash equivalenls disposed ol

26, Notes o the cash flaw statement

Net cash flow fram operating activitics

Loss belore tax

AdJustments for:

Share of profit ol associates gnd joint ventures

Empaiment of fixed asSets {see nate 5)

Firance costs

Finance income {note 8}

Amartisation of intangible assets {nate 11)

Depreciittion of right-of-use propedy, plan end squipment {note 13}
Thepreciition of olher propesty, plan and cquipment (note 13)
Lossi{prafit) o disposal of fxed assets

Prafit on disposa! of subsidiary (note 25)

Amotni€ vested under IFRS 2 (note 24)

Equily-sticled shar -hased payment transaction (note 24)

Operating cashlews before movemeais In werking caplind
Movemenls in working copltal;
- lncrease in faventories

- {Increass)idecrense in rade and other reveivables
- Intrease/{decrease) in trade and oties payables.

27, Relirement beachit plans

Defined cantributien scheme
The Group operates defined conribution refizement benefit schemes for all its qualifying employecs.

Tawl cantribution costs ¢harged (o the income statement 0 respact
of §,455 (2021: 9,739 members

Conmbutions totalling £1,888,000 (2021 :L1,478,000% were payable Lo the fund ot the reporting <date.

Defined benefit schemes

1021
£'000
23,330
623
1851
1,063
(26,284)
(1,416}
3,267
s
3,851
1,851
(1,063)
788
2022 L
£'000 £'000
{87.350) (51,402)
(16913 {+,068)
37,901 7,391
137,788 137,376
(336) (54}
8.672 11,805
65,947 64,895
10,573 28,752
1,767 14,307
- (3,267}
- 213
18281 -
293,902 257,354
204,552 — 205953
(+70) (350)
(18,315} 5937
13,333 (22.146)
199,080 ig139
1012 102t
£'000 £'000
10,869 10,037

The Campany sponsars a funded defined benefit pension plan for qualifying UK ¢mplayers, the Generat Healthcare Group [imited Peasior and Life Asswrance Plaw, The Plan is administered by GHG (DB) Pension
Trustees Limited, an independent tnistee. The Trustos is eeaired by law to act in the interest of all relevan! beneficiaries and are responsible for the invesiment policy for the assets and the day-1o-day administration

of the benefils.

Under te Plan, emplayces wre entitled to annnaf pensions on refiremeni arage 65 for each year of service. The Plan is closed 1o futurs accrual. The level of benefits accrued by membiers is based on the kength af their

Service and their P

bie Salarics at the earlier of the date on which ey left the Plan or the date al whick (he Plan closed 1o the fulure accrual of benefits.



Page §%

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

27. Retirement benefit plans {continued)

Profile of the plun

The Defined Bencfit Obligatian (DBO) ingludes benefits for former cmpleyees and cwrent pensieners The benefits under the Plan were secuted by way of an msurance contract with Asiva in 2020, at which point
about 63% of the liabtlipes were atmbutable to defermed pensioners and 37% io current pensioners. The data supplicd for this exsrese indicates a 16% shilt in the babilives with only 47% of the labulitics now
attributable Lo the deferred pensioncrs and 53% Lo the cunent pensioners

Tlie £rnn dUEBLION 1§ an indhcatar of the weighted-atcrase ume unul benefit payments are made For the Plan as a whole. the duration 1s appioxunately 13 ycars

Risks associuted with the plm
The Plan has now sold most of its assets and entered nito an annuiry contract with Avina As such, many of the risks il was previously cvposed to have been remaoved. Inestment, inflauon and bngayity sk are
removed as Aviva ars eonwractually obliged to fand members' benefits in the future However_ the Trusiee still retams the legal responzibility to pav nembers' beolits tw each individual member

Funding reguirements
UK lepislation requires that pension Plans are funded prudends. The list funding valuation af the Plan was carned ow bt 2 quakified actuary as st 30 September 2000 and showed a surplus 0F £3.7M. Now that the
buy-in is complete. the Company 1 na langer paying defied contnbutions The Plan is expectsd (o ransitian to buy -out in the near future and there will be no need for actuarial valuations in the future

Reporting at 31 December 2422

The Liabilities of the Scheme were valued as at 30 Soptember 2021, using & data axtract provided by the adminsstratars for the purposes of valuing the benefits sscured under the msuranee contract These resulis
were projected (0 the \gluation date of 31 December 2022 allowing for changes i market condiuons, and differcnces w the financial and demographic asswmptions The present value of the Defined Benefit
Obligation was measufed using the projeeted umit sredit method  The directors consider they have a nght (o am surplus asset on the final setdement of all scheme liabilities but have nol recognised an assct for this
swrplus as this 1s not considered matenal 10 the financial stalcments

The principal assumplians used to calewlate the kabtliies under [AS 19 are as follows

2022 201

Vo %

Discount rate +3 LR
Future pension ncreases in 3l
CPl inflauon 24 26
RPI nflation 30 32

The financial assumplions 1eflact the nature and werm of the Plan’s habihoes

Martality rate

Pensioner life expectaitey assumed as at 31 December 1s based on the $2P tables with scalng Cactors of [03% for male deferred pensions. 0% for male current penstoners. 1% for female deferved pensiancrs
and for 89%% for femalc curnent pensioncrs Future mprasements m iongesity are assumed i line with the CMIL 2021 projecuon model with 2 smootuny factor of 7 and a long Lerm rage of improsament of 1.23%
pa Samples of the ages 1o which pensioners are assumed to Ine are as {ollaws

2022 01
Lafe expectancy for male currently aged 63 BG 3 863
Life expectancy {or emale cwrently aged 63 892 392
Life expectancy al 65 for maks cuivently aped 43 873 376
Life expectancy at 65 for female carrenth aged 43 a7 90.8

Seusizivity to key ussunprions
The key assumptions used for JAS 19 are: discount rate. inflauen and monalis 1f daffereat assumptions weie used. ths could have a matenial effeet on the 1dentical values placed on the Tiabilivies and the isured
asset The senvrlvity Of e resutts 1o thesc assumplions is set out below

Change New value

Follawing # 0.25% decrease in the discount rate: £000 £'000
DBO at 31 Decemiber 2022 {2129y 75323
Surplus at 31 December 2022 - 7,188
Following 2 0.25% increase in the inflation assurnption:
DBO at 31 December 2022 1444 T9098
Surplus at 31 December 2022 - 7188
Following a one year increase in life expectancy:
DB at 31 December 2022 2287 79921
Surplus 8t 31 Decamber 2022 - 7.188
Present value of ebligation 2012 2011

£7000 £7000
At beginning of the period 118,016 123,593
Interest cost 2316 L7221
Actuartal loss (38,257) (4.028)
Benefit payments 4,421) (3,270
At end of the yeap 77,654 1ig 016
Fuair valite of scheme assers 20722 2021

£°000 £'000
At beginning of thg period 126,389 134011
Expeeted returm on scheme assets 1,484 1839
Actuarial loss {38,669) (3.862)
Benefit payments (4421) (3.270)
Administration expenses (941) {329

At end af the year 84,842 120,389
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27, Betirentent benelit plans (rontinued)

Asted classes af scheme asseis
The Plan assels are invesicd in the following asset classes, AH invested nxsels haye a quated market valos n an active markel. None of the essets are jnyestad in the Company’s fimancial insinuments or in properly

occupied by, or otlier assets used by, the Company.

1021 2021

£'a6% 4008

Cash instnuments and sterling deposilz 6,503 5,060
Cashat bank 135 el
Anrnnity contract . 77,654 118,016
Atend of the year B 84,842 126,389

The sevnaciliation 1o the amount shawa an the balance sheet i1 as follows, 1011
£'000
Present valae of obligation {118,016)
Falr value of sclieine nsscts 126,389
Unrecopnised poction of schems assets 8371y
Nk surphys rocognised = =
No ameudts have beca gnised in the c idaled incame for Lhe cwrrant or prior year. The sdministraion expenses for the plan are setiled by 1he scheme and ane therefore not recognised within the
consolidaced income stalement.
The net amount recagalsed in reserves is as fallows:
31 Decembier 3] December
2022 2011
£'000 £2009
Actuarial goin on scheme obligations 38,257 4,028
Acgtaarial loss on scheme nssets (IB.669) (3.862)
Movemeat In unrecognised pension surplus 5,353 . 8am
Actuarial loss on defined benefit peasion schemes 41 8,538
(2] {8,539)

Net elfect in reserves arising from movements ot fature scheme conunitment

Analysis of gatnsesses
Overall thero was a todal aquuariaf [oss of £0.4 miffion (2021 £8.2 willion actuarial gainy during the year, which is broken down as foltows,

Financial assumptions resulted in a pain of £33.8 million , mainly dus 1o the increase in the disconnl rate assunition. This galn was partially 6fscl by the increase in the RP1inflation assunipiion and related infation-
linked increases Deniographic assumptions tesibied iv a gain of £3.8 mil fon, mainty due to cianges in the moriality assumption, I panticy lar updating the C1 prajection model. DBO expericnce resulicd in a gain
af £0.6 million, mainly due to higher than expected defeaed revaluation and pension creases over the year, [Judng the year, asset returus underperformed against the giscount rate. This was satirely dus to the valus
of the primary assct, the insurince contract, being set 16 equal the value of the Liabilities.

Canifal cominitments
2022 2025
£'000 £'000

Capltal commitments
Centracted for, hut not pravided lar, acquisilion of property, plant atd equipnien 26,519 15,875
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29. Financtal Ins¢ruments and Ananelsl risk managemenl

The Group's nperalions ¢<POSEs it to a vasiety of financial risks, that inchrde market fisk {including interest risk and price risk), credit osk, liquidily sisk and capila} risk. The Group seeks 10 limit the adverse effects
ofthese risks Ly moritoring lavels of debt mance and the refoted finance coats, and Ly niatching the risks of the finsaciag with the risk and return profiles of Lhe nssels. The risks are monitored by managément
throughout the year vis monthly reviews of the operaianal performance, cashiflows, and levels of debt instrzments and averall debt Tevels.

Classes of financlal Instruments

The Gioug's financial instrumesss comprise of financial asstessuch as cash, sGon-term deposits, trade and ather recivables, Ginageiat Labiliies Such o bank lo2ns, Indn notes, and Iride and other payables.

The follorimg tzbie ehrssiftes the Group's fameiak assely and liabilites:

022 1021
£'000 £000
Flnancls] assels ot amortised cast
Trade and othes receivables (naie 18) 91,958 75,712
Cash and cash equivalents 35,012 102,9k5
Total financtal assciy at amartiyed cost 126,971 138,627
Finaackal liabillties al amortised cos!
Trade and other payables (mote 22} {178,552) {99,248)
Lease Linbilities (note 7} (LTL7,457) {1,674,088%
Losants and uihies boitunings (ioie 19" {161,348) {219,848)

]
Tatal financlal liabiltles at amortsed cost (2,057,857) {1,993,182)

The group has no financial instruments classified as farr vahue through other comprefiznsiue income or ¢air value through prafit and loss.
a) Market risk

Market cisk is the risk that ¢hanges In markel prices, such as ilerest zales or ather price risks, will nffect the income from or the value of financial instrumieats. The abjactive of matket risk management Is L6 manage
and eantral mare Tisk exposire within plabl while opiimising th< fetum on risk.

The Group is primarily impacied by interest mie risk and other price risks which e autlined below:

1) Taterast rate risk
Flmancial instruments affected by interest rate sk includs loans and othwr borrowings, The Group is primarily seasilive (o changes in UK isterear rutes. This affects future cash fows from toans and borrowings

held.
Fited
pA L]
A131 December 2012
Loans wud other borawings (note 19) 161,848
At 31 Decewber 2021
Leans and other barrowings ¢nole 19) 159,248

2) Other price rlsks
The Group has a number of long-term ¢oulrasts coodaining fixcd indexalion provisions. The Group generally secks to price cuntracts ol levels that take account of increasing prices. As the volunie of private
patients is anticipated to increase in the Mture, the Group will be ikreasingly subjact 10 pdeing changes from privale insurancs companics.

The integrated care conlricts operale undar a capped revenus budgat, The underlying pringiple assumed that the service can be i more eMiciently, improving patient experi¢nce and reducing operational costs.
RNevertheless, the Group beurs the risk of rising operational costs as the baseline revenuc is fixed subject 1o locsl demagraphic or service portfolio changes.

b) Credit rigk

Credit Tisk is the risk if finoncial loss 1o the Group &5 a customer or counler-party lo a financial instrument fails to mizet its ¢o ligations, end orises principally frem the Group's receivable from customwers

and cash depesits, with their maximun exposure being represented by their canying amount.

Tha Group has palicies with cuslomers thal requirs unfreal payment, where appropriate. Credit control procedures are designed Lo casure that invoiced revenue is collected according to sgresd 1emms, that policiss
xist to Jimit exposure ta any oie party and eqsune Approved credi lintils nre reviewed regutarly. These help to eliminate siguilicaat concentrations of credit risk,

Most revenues arise from insured patients' business and the NHS. Inswred pallents give rise 10 rade reczivables which are muainly due from large nsurance instiutions, who have high credit worthinzss, The
remainder of revenne arises from individual self-pay patients.

In accordance with TFRS 9, an 2xpected cedit 1058 model is used to salculate the provisien for impaimment. 1 kis expeeted credit loss dakes inla constderatian the age of debiter baldodes, and the characieristics of the
debtor. Credit risk managzment yervices are designed 10 try and reduce the expested credit loss 1o @ mininm.

When wlilistng bank accounls and cash depasits, the Group transuets with counlerpartics who have sound crodil profiles. Such counterparties are primarity largs, highty rated financial institulions. I celation ta
finaneialinstitytions, the Group ulicoated a credil Bmil based on extemal credit ratings. The countesparty’s total outslanding Iransactions with the Group inluding bauk sccounts snd cash deposils mst not exceed
limits agreed by the Board of Directors.

¢} Liguidlty rlsk

Ligquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difliculty in meeting its financial cbligations as they fall due. The Qroup’s approach to liguidity is 1a manage short and loag-1erm barrowings to easarc that it
will always tave sufficient liquidity te meets its liabilities when due, withour incurcing lossses or risk #g le Group’s repustation

This is achicved by robustly minaging ¢cash generatian across its operation, by applying cash collevtion targets throughout the Group and by managing liquidity risk via fong-term debl and equity funding from
shareholders.

The table below analyses the Group's noa-derivativa and derivative financial [iabilites inta relevant maturity groupings based on (he remaining period at the batance sheet date ta the contract maturity date. The
amouts included i the bl are the cantractual undiscounted cash flowa:



Page 56

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes ta the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

24,

30.

31

Flnapckal lnsiruments and financlal rlsk mavapanent (continued)

2 Llquld ity rlsk {continued)

Less (hatt | year Between [-2 years Between 2-3 years Butween 3-§ years Qver & years
AL 3] Beceriber 2022 £'90p £'690 £'000 £1000 £1006
Trade and olher payables (1ote 22) (178,552) - - - N
Lease linbilities (note 17) (133,06%) (138,245) {140,%06) (186,935 (3,529,988)
1 rans #nd Oller henowinas (note 19) {1,218) 160,000 .
Net gutilaws (356,620) (1:40,093) {300,908) (286,985) (3,519,988)
At 31 Decenlier 2021
Trads and other payables {oote 22} (99,248) - - - -
Lease Lsbilities fnote 17y (126,055} {422,253} 1129, 748) (264,664} £,582,243)
Laans and other borrowings (note 19) - - - - {215,848)
Net gutflaws 225,303 (L28,283) {£29,746)} (264,664} {3,807,091)

Lease lisbilitica cashilows ate discounmed o arrive al the batance sheet position per note 17. The inypact of the discounting is £2,516.7 million {2021 £2,656.7 million) over the semaining 1etm of the leases.

d) Capital nianagement

The primary objective of the Group's nunagenient of debd and equity is Lo cnsure the continued growtlh of the business, inclduing Lhe financing olnew Bospitals, equipment and start-up costs, incleding Head Office
cosls, in ordet to pravids Teturns for the Group shareholders and other stakeholders. The Group rises financing wiven needed through a combination of debit and equity.

Objectives are set out at the beginning of each yeate, in line with the imposed requizements and covenants of tie shareholder agreements. Covenants on the debt facilities utilised by the Group ars tested on 1 quanerly
basis_

Evenis after the reporring period

On 26 August 2023, it was annoiineed thal a definitive agreement had been signed whereby ParaHeahh will aequire Circle Health <iroup from Centens Corporanon with the transaction is expected to close in the first
quarter of 2024, The directers do nal believe that Lhis iransactlon has any materfal impact an the batances recorded of the disclosures presented in these fnancial stalemaents, At the date of siging the ultimale
Ning party tepuaias uach d, being Cemteac Corporatiar,

Related party transactions

Trading trantactinns with suhaldlaries

During the financiat year, trading lransactions with the subsidiaries lsted in note 14, occurred throughout the year as part of the normal canrse of business.
Remuneration of key manapement persannel

See note 7 for details on remuneration of key management persomiel

Other related parcy transactiony
Balance outstanding g5 at

Tramsactions 31 December
2022 2021 2021 2031
£'000 £'000 £1000 £000
Ribera Salud Group {subsidiary of the Group's ultimatg parent) * (1.435) (1.226} - -
Associaes (1,537) 1 682 113 1810
Joing venlures (32) 788 (84} (52)

*Tramsactions with Ribera Salud Group rafated fo corsultancy services received. Ribern Salud Group czased to be b related parly during the year as the CGiroup's ultimate pareat completad its diverstiture of Ribec
Satud Group in November 2022,

Transactions with associates and jodnt venture occurred througliout the year as part of the Rofimal course af busiiess.

The total dividends received from associales ond joinl veatures during the year can be seen i the cashflow slatement. All dividends declared were paid in the year and thete were no dividends recievable at the year
eod.

The above refated party balances are unsecured, incur no interest and are rep on demand No exp: has been 1 ised in the current or prior year for bad ar doubful debis in espect of thiese amounts. The

above related party balances ore included within other razeivables and payables respectively.

Controlling party
The Directors regord MH Scrvices Iuternational (UK) Limiled, a Company registered in England and Wales, as the Company’s immediate parent undertaking, as al the 31 December 2022, The Directors regard
Centene O jon as the Company's vl P dertaking and Mipg party a5 o} the 3] December 2002,

Circle Health Hotdings Limited is the pareut undentaking of the smatiest group for which consolidated financia! slatements are préparcd Lhal include the firancial statements of the Company, Centeng Corporation is
the parent undertaking of the fargest grovp for wiich consolidared financial statements are prepared that include the financial statements of the Cempany. Centene Corporation is 2 publicly traded company
incarperated i the Uinited Siates of America. Centene Corporatien's tegisterod address is 7700 Forsyth Blvd., SL. Louts, MO 63105,
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Fixed assets
Investiments
Loans to group companies

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and rescrves
Called up share capital
Share premium

Other reserves
Accumulated losses

Total shareholder's funds

Notes

13
13

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£000 £°000
75,211 75,211
206,701 121,714
281,912 196,925
1,856 90,005

5 14,964

1,361 104,969
(99,150 (116,699
(97,289) (11,730)
184,623 185,195
57 21
201,440 201,476
6,523 -
(23,397 (16,302)
184,623 185,195

The Campany has taken advantage of section 408 of the Comparies Act 2006 and has not included its own income
statement in these financial statements, The loss made by the Company for the year was £7.1 million (2021: £2.7

milliom).

The financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the board of directers and authorised

for issue on .. AL NONSIORET oo 2023,

They were signed on its behalf by:

Name: Hemry Davies
Director

24 NIRRT . 2023

‘Lhe accampanying noles torm part of these financial statements.

The company's registered address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London HC4M 6XH, England.
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Called up Share Other Accumulated
share capital premium reserves losses Total
£'600 £:000 £2000 £4000 £'000
Balance as at 31 Decensber 2020 21 201,476 - (13,844) 187,653
Amounts vested ander IFRS 2 {note 12) - - - 213 213
Toss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - 2,671) (2,671)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 21 201,476 - (16,302) 185,195
Other mevements 36 (36} - - N
Lquity-scttied share-based paymeat (rote 13) - - 6,523 - 6,523
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - {7,095) (7,085)
Halance as at 31 December 2022 57 201,449 6,523 {23,397) 184,623
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 Decewber 2022

1 Accounting policies
The Company’s accounting policies are included within those disclosed on pages 28 to 37 of the Circle Healtl; Holdings Limited consolidated group financial
staterrents.

? Critieal necounting fudaviucnls mud kiy suwices of estingstiion yneerainly

In the application of the Group's and Company’s accounting policies, judgements, cstimates and assumptions are required to be made zbout the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimales and associaled assumptions arc based on historical
experience and other factors that are considerad ta be relevant. Actual resulte may differ from these cstimales.

The judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements, and could have a
material impact on the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critical judgements it applying the Group's accounting policies
There are not deemed to be any critical judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies in the financial

statements,

Key sources of estimation uncertalnty
The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a materizl adjusiment to the carrying amounts of

the assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Investments
Investments are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The carrying amount of investments is assessed annualty, and the

uscful fives of investmcnts are considered 10 be indefinite. Inn the cvent that this cstimate is inaccurate, the recaverable amount and consequently the carrying
value of investmenls may be impacted.
Receivables

Receivables arc recognised at cost less provision for doubtful debts. The carrying mnount of receivables is assessed annually, and provisions recognised baged
an the custonter spocific circamstances. In the event that this estimate is inaccurats, the recoverable amount and consequently Hie carrying value of recciables

may be impacted.
3 Operating costs
The Company incurred £193,80¢ in relation to UK statutory audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £5,000).
4 Employees
Cther than the Directors, the entity did not bave any employecs during the year (2021: nil}, and therefore did nat incur any staff casts during the year (2021:
£nil).
5 Directors' caroluments

Please refer to the Direciors’ emaluments nole in the Circle Health Holdings Limited consolidated group financial statements (note 7).

6 Investments
Shares in substdiary undertakings
£:000
Caost and net book value
At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 75§211

The Directors consider that the value of the Company's fixed asset investments are supported by their underlying assets. No proviston for impairnient of
investments has been made for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
See note 14 of the group financial accounts for a list of investments held by the Company.

7 Dehtots

Ameunits falling due within ane year 31 Decemnber 2022 31 December 2021

£'000 £:000
Debtors - 42
Prepayments and accrued income 258 319
Amounts owed by group subsidiaries - 89,644
Deferred tax (see note 11) 1,598 -

1,856 90,008

Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.
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10

11

13

14

Laans to group companjes

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£'000 £000
Amounts owed by group subsidiaries 206,701 121,714

Loans to proup subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand. These balances have been classified
withii loans (@ group compantes 48 management do rot expect these balances (o be recovered within the foreseeable fure.

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

3¥ December 2022 31 December 2021

£000 £000
Trade and other ¢reditors - 2
Ampounts owed to group undertakings 98,206 116,413
Accruals and defeired income 944 284
99,150 [16,699

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayments and are repayable on demand.

Deferred tax asset

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£'000 £060
Beginning of the year - -
Credit to profit and loss account 1,516 -
Credit 10 cquity (OCI) 82 -
End of the year 1,598 -

Deferred tax balances have been remeasured at the rates they are expected to reverse, which is mainly at 25%.

Share capital and share premium

Refer to note 24 of the group financial accounts for details of share capital, share premium and amounts vesting under [FRS 2.

Equity-setited share-based payment
The long-term stock plan is a stack plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Healtls Holding Limited, The Company grants under this plan
solely relate to Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs") and Performance Stock Units ("PSUs") aver $0.001 par value commen stock in Centene Inc. and have no

cask cost to the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the ultimate parent company granted RSUs and PSUs under these stock plans to selested directors and employees
of the Company.

The accounting standards (IFRS2) require an accaunting {non-cash) charge to be made in the financial statements of the Circle Group for such awards, with
the corresponding credit taken ta equity given there is no liability for the Circle Group for shares awarded under the long term stock plan.

The tatal accounting charge is calculated based onh a number of factors and assumptions, and the amount recorded for the year related to employee share-
based plans was £6,323,000.

Further details of the stock plan ave included in Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements.

Fvents after the reporting period

On 28 Awgusi 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby PureHealth will acquire Circle Health Group from Centene
Corporation with the transaction is expected to ciose in the first quarter of 2024. The directors do not believe that this transaction has any material jimpact on
the bLalances recorded or the disclosures presented in these finaucial statements. At the date of signing the ultimate controlling party remaing unchanged,

being Centene Corporation.
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Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption ffom disclosing transactions with other members af the Group lieaded by Circle Heaith Holdiugs
Limited, provided that each party ta the transaction is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Ultiniate pavent undertakdng and confrolling party

The Directors cogard M Services International (UK} Limited, & Company registered jn England and Wales, as the Company's immediate parent undentaking,
as at the 31 December 2022. The Dircctors regard Centene Corporation as the Company's uttimate parent undertaking and controlling party as at the 31
December 2022,

Circle Health Holdings Limited is the parent undertaking of the smallest group for which consolidated financial statements ar¢ prepared thal include the
financial statements of the Company. Centene Corporation is the parent underiaking of the largest group for which consclidated financial statements arc
prepared that include the financial statements of the Company. Centene Corporatien is a publicly traded company incorporated in the United States of
Arnerica. Centene Corporation's regisiered address is 7700 Forsyth Blvd., St, Louis, MO 63105.
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